
 
O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d ,  L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
Ph: 847.883.8600 | Fax: 847.883.8608 | www. l i n co ln sh i re i l . gov  

AGENDA
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING

Village Hall – Board Room
Monday, August 27, 2018

Following Regular Village Board Meeting

Reasonable accommodations / auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with disabilities to effectively participate in any 
public meetings of the Board.  Please contact the Village Administrative Office (847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance if you need

special accommodations to attend. The Committee of the Whole will not proceed past 10:30 p.m. unless there is a consensus of the
majority of the Trustees to do so. Citizens wishing to address the Board on agenda items may speak when the agenda item is open,

prior to Board discussion.

CALL TO ORDER
1.0 ROLL CALL

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES
2.1 Acceptance of the August 6, 2018 Special Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Minutes

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS
3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use

3.11 Preliminary Evaluation of a Petition for a Major Amendment to Westgate 
of Lincolnshire Planned Unit Development (PUD) to Install a Fence on a 
Berm along Route 22/Half Day Road (Westgate of Lincolnshire 
Homeowner’s Association)

3.12 Preliminary Evaluation of a Petitioner for a Major Amendment to the 
Lincolnshire Marketplace Planned Unit Development (PUD) to Permit 
Existing Culver’s Wall signs to be Internally Illuminated (Culver’s of 
Lincolnshire)

3.2 Finance and Administration
3.21 Consideration of Approval of an Investment Advisory Agreement and 

Custodian Account Agreement with Sawyer Falduto Asset Management 
(Village of Lincolnshire)

3.22 Consideration of an Ordinance Dissolving the Village of Lincolnshire 
“Fund 21” (Westminster Way Transportation Special Service Area 1A)
(Village of Lincolnshire)

3.23 Consideration of Approval of a Utility Tax Audit Service Agreement with 
Azavar Solutions (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.3 Public Works
3.31 Consideration of a Professional Engineering Service Contract with Patrick 

Engineering, Inc., for Illinois Route 22 Emergency Access Design, 
Permits and Bidding Services at a Cost not to Exceed $69,770.53 (Village 
of Lincolnshire)

3.32 Consideration of a Professional Engineering Services Contract with 
Ciorba Group, Inc. at a cost not to Exceed $18,744.35 for Preparation of 
Bid Plans/Specifications for an Emergency Alternative Water Supply 



Page 2
AGENDA –Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 27, 2018

Connection (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.33 Concurrence to Sign a Letter of Intent with the Village of Buffalo Grove for 
an Alternative Water Supply Connection (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.4 Public Safety
3.5 Parks and Recreation
3.6 Judiciary and Personnel

4.0 ADJOURNMENT



 
 
 
 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
w w w . l i n co l n s h i re i l . g o v  

2.1
MINUTES

SPECIAL COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING
Monday, August 6, 2018

Present:
Mayor Brandt Trustee Harms Muth
Trustee Grujanac Trustee Hancock
Trustee McDonough Trustee Servi
Trustee Leider Village Clerk Mastandrea
Village Attorney Simon Village Manager Burke
Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson Public Works Director Woodbury
Chief of Police Leonas Assistant Village Manager/Community &
Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya Economic Development Director Gilbertson

ROLL CALL
Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:07 p.m. and Village Clerk Mastandrea called the 
Roll.

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES
2.1 Acceptance of the July 30, 2018 Special Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Minutes

The minutes of the July 30, 2018 Special Committee of the Whole meeting 
were approved with the following changes: Item 3.11, page 15, first paragraph, 
third sentence should read “The numbers in Connecticut were not used as raw 
data but were adjusted to reflect statistical and seasonal differences.”

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use

3.11 CONTINUED PUBLIC HEARING: Regarding a Petition by TSJ 
Lincolnshire Property LLC to Rezone the Property Located at 90, 
98 and 100 Half Day Road from OC (Office Campus) to B2 (General 
Business District) and Granting a Special Use Permit for a Planned 
Unit Development with Building Height Exceptions for a Mixed-Use 
Development with Recreation, Hospitality and Restaurant Uses 
(TSJ Lincolnshire Property LLC)

Mayor Brandt recessed the August 6, 2018 Special Committee of the 
Whole meeting and reconvened the Public Hearing regarding a petition
by TSJ Lincolnshire Property LLC to rezone the property located at 90, 
98 and 100 Half Day Road from OC (Office Campus) to B2 (General 
Business District) and granting a special use permit for a planned unit 
development (PUD) with building height exceptions for a mixed-use 



Page 2
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

development with recreation, hospitality and restaurant uses.

Mayor Brandt noted the procedure for the Public Hearing as follows:
Village staff will make a brief presentation to provide clarity 
regarding the petitioner’s request; the process for reviewing the 
request; as well as a response to various questions raised at the
last week’s meeting.
The petitioner will make a presentation.
The Village Board will have an opportunity to ask the Petitioner 
questions.
The Public will be given an opportunity to provide input and ask 
questions.

o Public participation will be limited to new information 
provided at tonight’s meeting by staff or the Petitioner, 
new information included in the August 6, 2018 meeting 
materials regarding the application. 

The Board will direct questions from the public to the Petitioner.
The Board will deliberate based on the evidence and testimony 
presented.
The Public will be given an opportunity to provide input and ask 
questions after the Village Board has received the petitioner’s 
presentation and completed its questioning of the petitioner.
Please hold all questions/comments until the Public participation 
portion of the public hearing. Written public comment received 
by the Village Board at or after the July 30th public hearing prior 
to tonight’s meeting has been included in the public record of the 
hearing.
All public participation will be on the record, and must be 
provided from the microphone at the back of the room. 
Anyone wishing to speak will be asked to attest to an oath. 
Comments and questions are to be directed to the Board. The
Board will direct questions to the Petitioner.
After the public participation period has ended, the Village Board 
will deliberate on the request and may do one of the following:

o Take no action on the application; 
o Make a recommendation to close the Public Hearing and 

forward this to a future Village Board meeting for action; 
or 

o Continue the Public Hearing to a subsequent Village 
Board meeting and request the Petitioner return with 
additional information/changes to the request.

Everyone in attendance should remain polite and civil as the 
meeting progresses. No personal attacks shall be made towards 
staff, the petitioner, members of the Board, or other members of 
the public. The Board welcomes all opinions, but they should be 
communicated in a respectful manner.

Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic Development (CED) 
Director Gilbertson started the staff presentation regarding the petition 
by TSJ Lincolnshire Property LLC to rezone the property located at 90, 



Page 3
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

98 and 100 Half Day Road from OC (Office Campus) to B2 (General 
Business District) and granting a special use permit for a planned unit 
development with building height exceptions for a mixed-use 
development with recreation, hospitality and restaurant uses by 
highlighting the zoning scope of the petition, mixed-use site location 
information, and traffic impacts and historical information. 

Mayor Brandt noted the traffic study shows 1994 traffic counts were 
similar to 2017 and asked if Hewitt was in existence in 1994. Trustee 
Leider stated Hewitt was at its peak capacity in 1994.

Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson continued his 
presentation with historical traffic data.

Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya continued the staff 
presentation with a brief overview of the Village approval process and
the Village’s limited role in development.

Mayor Brandt noted the vacancy rate for office properties in the Village 
has gone up by 10% in the last year and stated this is one of the 
concerns the Board has to weigh. Economic Development Coordinator 
Zozulya noted many office users would like sites that are move-in ready 
and not many office users have inquired about the Medline site.

Village Manager Burke continued the staff presentation with information 
on costs, potential property tax implications and challenges for the
Village to buy the property. Mayor Brandt noted years ago the Village 
put out a survey regarding creating a Park District and it was unanimous 
the residents did not want a Park District which would involve additional 
tax money. 

Village Manager Burke continued the presentation noting there would 
be no significant Village service impacts as a result of the proposed
development. Chief of Police Leonas confirmed he did not think the 
proposed project would significantly affect his staff. Village Manager 
Burke stated staff reached out to the Fire Department and they did not 
believe the facility would drive significant budget numbers or staff time
either.

Village Manager Burke closed his presentation highlighting conservative 
Village revenue estimates at $472,900 annually at the proposed 
projects full buildout. Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya 
stated the petitioner representative also wanted to note, for the record, 
that their connection fee projections come to approximately $3 million to 
the Village and Lake County. Mayor Brandt asked Economic 
Development Coordinator Zozulya to explain what connection fees are. 
Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya stated connection fees are 
assessed every time there is a new use coming online that uses water
and sewer.



Page 4
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

Mayor Brandt administered the oath to all in attendance who wanted to 
make Public comments. 

Mr. Michael Kerin, Director of Development with The St. James,
provided a presentation introducing The St. James proposed project 
and highlighting the construction progress at the Washington, D.C. 
facility.

Mr. Andrew Jacobs, Design Director with Gensler Architects, provided a 
presentation addressing building height and noting only the field house 
would be at 75’ in height. Mr. Jacobs provided information relative to 
vehicle trip generation comparing a typical suburban office vs. The St. 
James, proposed security plan, seating capacity at main venues, and 
proposed events and visitors.

Trustee Grujanac asked what the height restrictions are now, at current 
zoning. Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya stated the current 
zoning allows up to 75’ in height. 

Trustee Hancock asked the petitioner to give some insight into the 
financing with regards to building a project of this size and scope. Mr. 
Kerin noted the cofounders started The St. James about 4 years ago.
They pitched the idea to many parties and acquired a private equity 
investor; Cain International, who are the real estate investment arm of a 
Los Angeles based hedge fund called Eldridge. Cain International is the
primary investor but The St. James also financed a construction loan 
through Security Benefits. 

Mayor Brand opened the floor to public participation noting the following 
instructions:

• To facilitate an efficient and orderly process, anyone wishing to 
speak should sign in with Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 
Gilbertson. With this approach there will be no need for attendees to 
stand in line behind the microphone. Individuals who have signed up 
to speak are asked to remain seated until your name is called.

Village Attorney Simon stated if anyone in the Public has submitted 
written comment to staff, those comments are included in the report of 
the proceedings tonight.

Mayor Brandt stated each Trustee has at their place a letter from Kay 
Malek and other residents opposed to the proposed development.
Mayor Brandt read names of the residents who wrote letters of support 
for the project. All letters were entered into the public record.

Mayor Brandt continued with instruction to the Public for comment as 
follows: 
• Priority will be given to those in attendance who have not previously 

had a chance to speak. Those members of the public who have 



Page 5
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

previously addressed the Village Board on this matter will be given 
the opportunity to speak only after all others have had a chance to 
speak.

• Comments should be limited to matters related to new information 
presented by staff or the petitioner since the August 6th public 
hearing.

• Staff will collect and consolidate questions germane to this 
application. Germane subjects include the application review and 
potential approval process, request for rezoning, Planned Unit 
Development, schedule of uses, and building height exception. 

• Questions relating to specific business operations of The St. James 
or any other uses proposed are not the subject of this meeting. 

• Repetitive comments and testimony should be limited. If someone 
has previously addressed or raised a particular issue or concerns, 
the public is asked to refrain from making further comments on the 
same topic. 

• Attendees are encouraged to appoint a representative to speak on 
behalf of a group with common interests.  

• Comments, testimony and questions are to be directed to the Mayor 
and Village Board and not directly to the petitioner.  

• Following the conclusion of public participation, the petitioner and/or 
staff will have an opportunity to respond to questions/concerns 
raised as they relate to the standards for granting the zoning relief 
sought.

• When you address the Village Board, please use the microphone 
towards the back of the Board Room. State your name for the record 
and then proceed with your comments or testimony. 

Please Note: if anyone requests an opportunity to “cross-examine” the
petitioner’s witnesses, please refer them to the Village Attorney to 
confirm the scope and subject matter of the cross-examination are 
germane to the public hearing.

Ms. Evelyn Cooper, resident at 8 Victoria Lane, noted she was the 
Mayor in the 1980’s and provided the Village’s goals and challenges at
that time. Ms. Cooper stated her opinion is this project is inappropriate 
for this property and she would like to see residential development on 
the site. Ms. Cooper noted if this project is approved she feels it will 
dictate zoning of the vacant Florsheim property to the west. Ms. Cooper 
asked the Board what their vision is for Route 22, what the strategy is to 
keep this area semirural and livable, and how they will prevent 
additional road widening. 

Ms. Susan Olsen, resident at 854 Sutton Court, stated she is not in 
favor of the proposal.

Mr. Bob Auer, resident at 5 Court of Connecticut River Valley, noted
concern regarding all the vacancies in the Village. Mr. Auer stated he 
would like to see an analysis of comparable businesses in the area to 
see if this type of project would work. 



Page 6
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

Ms. Jackie Curtis, resident at 33 Portshire Drive, stated she has lived in 
Lincolnshire her entire life and would like it to be the same community 
she grew up in, but she knows it is not and it is not going to be. Ms. 
Curtis stated that this property will not stay vacant and in her opinion the
schools cannot take in any more children. Ms. Curtis stated she would 
be disappointed if this site turned into a Costco situation like that in Lake 
Forest, where the developer simply goes up the road and that 
community then benefits from the project. In her opinion, the proposed 
project would be a great opportunity for Lincolnshire. Ms. Curtis asked if 
this project is not approved, what will happen with the land and added 
she is in favor of this type of project being close to home. 

Ms. Joy Serauskas, resident at 1 Fairfax Lane, stated there are critical 
areas of development in Lincolnshire and the Hewitt/Florsheim sites are
one that will dictate property values and quality of life for surrounding 
residents. Ms. Serauskas noted her opinion is zoning for this property 
will dictate what the zoning will be for the Florsheim property which will 
ultimately promote the widening of Route 22. Ms. Serauskas also noted
concern with drainage on the property. 

Ms. Jody Holzeman, resident at 3 Court of Connecticut River Valley,
stated the sight is currently a major eyesore and something has to be 
done with the property. Ms. Holzeman noted concerns with traffic and 
sight lines as a result of the proposed development. 

Ms. Christine Udoni, resident at 401 Old Mill Circle, stated she has lived 
in the area for a long time and supports the proposed PUD. If approved,
she and others who have children in sports would not have to travel as 
far for sports activities. The project would allow the high school sports 
teams a place to practice during the winter season. Ms. Udoni stated 
the project would produce needed revenue in Lincolnshire and in her 
opinion would be a great use for the site.

Mr. Dennis Barnett, resident at 3 Court of Connecticut River Valley,
asked if the letters of support that were entered into the record were 
from residents. Mayor Brandt confirmed the letters of support were from 
Lincolnshire residents. Mr. Barnett asked what the fees would be for the 
club. Village Attorney Simon stated the fees the petitioner elects to 
charge patrons is not germane to whether the property is rezoned from 
Office Campus to B2. Mr. Barnett asked if there has been any type of 
demographic study done on the property to make sure The Saint James 
is put into an appropriate area. 

Mr. Dan Friedman, resident at 6 Tidewater, noted his opinion is it would 
require an enormous leap of faith to allow a project to be built by a 
company that has no known track record. Mr. Friedman stated his 
opinion is this property would be a great place for a continuing care 
facility, assisted living, or memory care facility. 



Page 7
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

Mr. Ray Giuriceo, resident at 107 Surrey Court, asked staff what portion 
of the 38% office vacancy increase is attributable to the Medline Office 
Campus itself. Is the Village actively soliciting healthcare companies for 
their use of this space? Mr. Giuriceo asked the petitioner if the security 
personnel on-site would be armed, will the facility have metal detectors, 
and will the facility screen who is invited to tournaments. Mr. Giuriceo 
asked if the petitioner would provide traffic control from the property 
after tournaments.

Mayor Brandt reiterated that if comments/concerns were made at a 
previous meeting, note was taken and asked that the public not 
duplicate these comments/concerns.

Mr. Bob Schafer, resident of 8 Court of Connecticut River Valley,
summarized his idea of what zoning should be. Mr. Schafer asked when 
the referenced letters of support would become part of the record so the 
public can review them. Mr. Schafer asked if the Board has been able to 
vet the owners, does the Village know their background, does the 
Village know their successes and failures and when will the residents of 
Lincolnshire get a better idea of who and what is behind this petition. 
Mr. Schafer asked if the applicant plans to keep the four addresses for 
the site as is listed on the County website. Mr. Schafer asked how the 
water bodies, wetlands, soils, and FEMA special flood hazards would 
impact the proposal. Mr. Schafer asked if the application has been 
reviewed by the Southeast Lake Facility Planning Area and if not, when. 
Mr. Schafer continued his list of concerns. Mayor Brandt asked Mr. 
Schafer if he would like his questions entered into the record. Mr. 
Schafer provided his list of comments/questions to be entered into the 
record. 

Village Attorney Simon and Village Manager Burke noted many of the 
questions, germane to the petition, from previous meetings have been 
answered in the packet found on the Village Website.

Mr. Larry Barnhart, resident at 4 Court of Connecticut River Valley,
stated if the application is revised to what was presented in December
of 2017, then all the Village’s requirements from February 2018 should 
be honored and noted he did not think these requirements were 
answered. Mr. Barnhart read Village Code language as it relates to the 
petition and would like to know why this vague request would be 
granted based on the code language. Mr. Barnhart asked what the 
Village sees in this application that makes it a candidate for special 
consideration. Mr. Barnhart noted concern with this parcel setting 
zoning for the Florsheim parcel and is the intention of the Village Board 
to create a commercial corridor. Mr. Barnhart asked if it was the 
Village’s opinion that revenue from such a development will reduce 
property taxes. 

Ms. Kay Malek, resident of 865 Downing Square, asked what would 
happen with the project if there was a recession. Ms. Malek noted 



Page 8
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

concerns with her property and the Village if this project is permitted.

Ms. Marianne Seiler, resident of 2 Court of Fox River Valley, asked if 
the comparable traffic growth rate would be for the same time period 
relative to other areas such as Milwaukee Ave. Ms. Seiler asked what 
the acronym BCA stood for on the traffic information slide. Ms. Seiler 
stated concern for traffic going directly from the site to the freeway. Ms. 
Seiler asked the Board to consider all due diligence when considering 
this project.

Mr. Paul Okamoto, resident of 4 Court of Natchez, provided his estimate 
of additional traffic as a result of the proposed project and questioned 
the accuracy of the traffic study provided by the petitioner. Mr. Okamoto 
stated the traffic consultant indicated there was a center lane on Route 
22 but it is really not a center lane that is legal to use.

Mr. Barry May, resident of 6 Court of Natchez, read a list of concerns 
regarding the petition and proposed project and noted his opinion is 
there is a better solution for the property. Mr. May proposed this petition 
be put on hold for 180 days to research other options for the property.

Mr. Gene Silverman, resident of 8 Court of Wilmington noted this is not 
a guaranteed entity and asked for additional information about the hotel; 
when tournaments are not taking place. Mr. Silverman asked the Board 
why they did not think this could be developed residential and wanted to 
know if it was based on potential revenue. Mr. Silverman asked how 
long construction would take and how long before The St. James runs 
to its full capacity. Village Attorney Simon stated according to the 
petitioner the anticipated buildout is 5–7 years.

Ms. Kelly Kalmes, resident of 6 Court of Nantucket asked when the one
year clock starts ticking for rezoning; when the year is up. Mayor Brandt 
stated the clock has not started because it is unknown if it will be 
approved. Ms. Kalmes asked how trucks and delivery service for the 
proposed hotel and restaurant are figured into the traffic study. Ms. 
Kalmes asked if it is possible to reduce the scale of the project. Ms. 
Kalmes asked if practice time for the schools would be free or would the 
fee be passed on to the taxpayers. Ms. Kalmes suggested gathering 
residents from the community to work on these projects and processes. 

Mayor Brandt opened the Hearing to comments and discussion by the 
Village Board.

Mayor Brandt addressed the questions related to strategy and vision of 
the Florsheim property and stated the zoning for the Florsheim will not 
become B2 if this property is rezoned B2. Mayor Brandt stated the 
Florsheim property is currently located in unincorporated Lake County 
so it would have to be annexed into the Village of Lincolnshire and the 
long-term plan was for this parcel to be residential and for Old Mill Road 
to be realigned with Berkshire Lane to the south.



Page 9
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

Mayor Brandt noted she has heard in the meeting the desire of the 
residents for the Village to purchase the land and make this open space 
or a park. Mayor Brandt stated regardless of the actual price of the 
property, the Village is not going to purchase the parcel due to the
amount of parks and open space the Village already has. If this parcel 
was turned into park or open-space, it would deplete Village resources
in order to support and maintain.

Mayor Brandt stated in terms of housing, there is potential for the
Florsheim property to be cluster homes and did not believe it was 
feasible to have housing on the Medline property and added residential 
use would impact traffic more than the proposed The St. James project.
Mayor Brandt stated the Board has received letters from the local 
school districts stating they are at capacity and noted her opinion and 
the opinion of the Board regarding property values ties to top-rated 
schools. 

Village Attorney Simon started addressing questions as follows: Has 
The St. James done an analysis or market study to test the ability to 
absorb this type of facility. Mr. Kerin confirmed The St. James has done
numerous studies on markets across the country related to sports 
participation rates, population within a certain distance within the facility 
of 5-, 10- and 20-miles for different uses and is confident this area can 
support it demographically.

Village Attorney Simon noted the residents have identified that there are 
no current The St. James facilities in operation at this time and asked 
the petitioner if he could comment about the experience of the founders 
of The St. James and the people who operate The St. James. Mr. Kerin 
stated the cofounders both have law and business degrees, both have 
played sports their entire lives, and when growing up it was difficult 
traveling to different sports functions. The cofounders wanted to open a 
business together and did extensive studies on sports market and 
sports participation rates and came up with the idea for The St. James.
Mr. Kerin provided a brief summary of The St. James staff and business
model.

Village Attorney Simon asked if The St. James would consider engaging 
in extra traffic control during tournaments/special events. Mr. Kerin 
stated as they go through further site plans and traffic studies, this is 
something they have contemplated at the other facility and would 
consider at this location.

Village Attorney Simon asked Mr. Aboona, the traffic consultant, if he 
had familiarity with how the traffic counts on all the arterial roads in the 
area have grown over the last 10 – 15 years. Mr. Aboona stated the 
growth predictions should be very consistent with the rest of the region. 

Village Attorney Simon noted one of the questions was with regard to 



Page 10
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

the letter grades as they describe levels of service and stated the 
definition of the letter grades is described in the traffic report that is 
available on the Village website. 

Village Attorney Simon stated the following question was asked: if you 
are turning east from the property and want to head south on the 
Tollway, did the study measure the impact of the traffic on the turning 
movement specifically or is it based on counting vehicles. Mr. Aboona 
stated the study encompasses all of the above; they look at the turning 
movements at each intersection and how the intersections operate with 
each other in terms of spacing. The study encompasses the area east 
of the Tollway all the way to Riverwoods Road.

Village Attorney Simon asked if the Traffic Study was able to measure 
the facilities peak hours. Mr. Aboona stated they used the data that is 
available based on the existing facility in Connecticut and that study 
focused on the trip generation of the facility as it responds to the peak 
hours of the street system. 

Village Attorney Simon asked if it was the opinion of the Traffic 
Consultant if the system would be able to sustain the capacity during 
non-peak hours. Mr. Aboona stated there is definitely capacity during 
non-peak hours.

Village Attorney Simon stated one of the residents noted that one of the 
days the traffic study was done there was inclement weather and asked 
if this was true. Mr. Aboona stated he does not recall if there was 
inclement weather any of the days the study was performed. Mr. 
Aboona provided a summary of how the study was performed. 

Village Attorney Simon asked if it is possible to reduce the size and/or 
scale of The St. James facility. Mr. Kerin stated that would not be the 
current model and the plan is to build the amenities as discussed.

Village Attorney Simon asked staff what part of the 38% vacancy rate is 
attributable to the Medline campus. Economic Development Coordinator 
Zozulya stated the 38% office vacancy rate is 1.6 million square feet 
and out of the 1.6 million, the Medline office campus is 343,000 square 
feet.

Village Attorney Simon asked if staff has solicited or received interest
from the medical industry for development in the Village. Economic 
Development Coordinator Zozulya stated the Barnes & Noble building in 
the Lincolnshire Commons Center has become medical but not anything 
else on a larger scale. Mayor Brandt noted someone brought up having 
an assisted living care facility and stated there are already two in 
Lincolnshire. 

Village Attorney Simon addressed the question regarding when the 
clock starts ticking; the one-year zoning and PUD expiration time period 



Page 11
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

limit starts on the day the proposed Ordinance would be approved. 
Village Attorney Simon provided additional information regarding the 
approval process and timeframe for the proposed development. Village 
Manager Burke provided additional information on the assisted living 
facilities in Lincolnshire stating Sedgebrook was originally contemplated 
and approved as a PUD with multiple phases. Approximately three 
years ago Sedgebrook wanted to separate 19 acres because the final 
phases did not project the business demand to be built out to the full 
phasing for which they originally received approval. Village Manager 
Burke stated staff believes the market has spoken and Lincolnshire is at
or near full capacity for assisted living facilities. 

Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya provided the number of 
current parking spaces on the site as approximately 980.

Village Attorney Simon stated a resident asked why the parcel could not 
be residential and noted the current zoning is Office Campus, if a 
developer wanted to develop it as residential property, they would have 
to go through the same process as they are currently going through.

Mayor Brandt noted there was a question about the project not going 
through SMC and IDNR. Village Attorney Simon stated Illinois General 
Assembly has recognized that stormwater and drainage does not 
recognize political boundaries; therefore, stormwater and drainage laws 
are administered at a regional and statewide level. Lake County 
adopted a watershed development ordinance that governs land 
development and how it impacts wetlands, floodplains, and floodways 
throughout the entire county. There are some communities that have 
taken the effort to be certified to force that ordinance independently. 
Lincolnshire has not done that and defers to the regulations of the 
County.  Every development that occurs in Lincolnshire has to get a 
permit from Lake County Stormwater Management Commission prior to 
construction. A building permit cannot be issued unless there is 
approval from the county. If the proposed ordinance is approved, it does 
not grant preliminary development approval or building activity. Village 
Attorney Simon provided additional information regarding the process of 
preliminary development and building activity. 

Mayor Brandt addressed demographics and stated the Lincolnshire 
Sports Association (LSA) has approximately 800 participants per sport, 
Stevenson High School has over 4,200 students and are in support of
the proposed project.

Mayor Brandt noted there was a question regarding security guards 
carrying guns and if there would be metal detectors onsite. Mr. Kerin 
stated the guards would be unarmed and they do not currently have 
metal detectors as part of the plan. 

Mayor Brandt asked if the Village Board wished to provide a 
recommendation on this matter regarding placement on a future Village 



Page 12
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

Board meeting date for formal consideration and action or vote to place 
the item on a future agenda without additional testimony and close the 
public hearing. 

Trustee Servi stated he is aware it is difficult to turn left out of Wood 
Creek Courts and this will not change. Trustee Servi stated he asked if 
a traffic light could be put up at this location, and IDOT will not put a 
light up at a private road but there are potential back door/cut through 
ways the Village could consider working on to help the situation such as 
creating a secondary access point from Nottingham Lane and maybe 
other outlets.

Trustee Leider stated the Board always has in mind what is the right 
thing to do for the community. Trustee Leider stated the Board has to 
listen to the full community regarding the proposed project and not just 
what Wood Creek Courts has to say. As an active father of five in the 
community, Trustee Leider stated many other residents are in support 
for this in the community. It is important to remember the community 
makes up hundreds of households. The Board will keep in mind what is 
right for the entire community. 

Trustee Hancock provided context into the Village financials stating the 
Village does not want to be irresponsible. Trustee Hancock noted the 
Fresh Market, Half Day Brewing, and City Park were brought up as 
challenges and stated the answer to this would not be to put a park in; 
the Village needs economic vitality to be successful. Trustee Hancock 
stated no one in the Public brought up the fact that the average age of 
residents of Lincolnshire is actually increasing at a higher rate 
compared to surrounding communities which is not typically a good 
economic signal. Trustee Hancock noted the traffic is an issue but it is 
not just Lincolnshire traffic so the question the Trustees have is whether 
or not the proposed project is the right decision for all of Lincolnshire. 
Trustee Hancock stated the proposed project may not be in the right 
location for him personally but his opinion is that it is in the right location 
for Lincolnshire. 

Trustee McDonough stated the Board is asked from time to time to 
make irrevocable decision based on inadequate information and in his 
opinion the information provided is currently inadequate. Trustee 
McDonough provided a summary of approving the height variance for 
Medline. Trustee McDonough stated everyone who spoke had excellent 
points and legitimate concerns but as more information is provided and 
the Public has a better understanding of what the proposal is, the Public 
may see that the project is not a bad alternative considering other things 
that could go in at this location. Trustee McDonough stated his opinion 
is he would like to have a preliminary development plan and would like 
to get more information before rushing forward with the project.

Trustee Grujanac stated this is a piece of land the Village knows needs 
to be developed, and it needs to be developed carefully. Trustee 



Page 13
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

Grujanac expressed that Mayor Brandt brought up a good point in the 
fact that the Florsheim is not part of the Village of Lincolnshire, and
there is no control over this parcel currently. Trustee Grujanac stated if 
the parcel is approved for rezoning, she would like the community to 
come together to move the project forward. 

Trustee Harms Muth stated she appreciated the Public coming to the 
Board with information and concerns but as a Trustee she has to 
represent the entire community not just two subdivisions which make up 
just 6% of the community. Trustee Harms Muth stated the petition today 
is for zoning and current zoning is clearly not viable since the property 
has sat vacant for more than three years and office vacancies are at 
38%. Trustee Harms Muth stated she has many of the same concerns 
the public has expressed about this particular development but it is not 
the phase of the project for the petitioner to answer these concerns. 
When the preliminary development plan is submitted, she will make 
sure these concerns are addressed. Trustee Harms Muth stated it is her 
opinion the Village needs to take this property and rezone it and work 
together on how that rezoned property is developed. 

Mayor Brandt asked again if the Village Board wishes to provide a 
recommendation on this matter regarding placement on a future Village 
Board meeting date for formal consideration and action. Any vote to 
place the item on a future agenda without additional testimony will close 
the public hearing.  Otherwise, any requests for additional information 
will continue the public hearing.

Trustee Hancock asked Trustee McDonough what additional 
information he would need to approve rezoning. Trustee McDonough 
stated there are no hotel and no restaurant users identified, and the
revenue stated of over $300,000 is not accurate without this information.
Trustee McDonough stated he would like to see a development with a 
hotel and a restaurant which have not been presented and there is no 
indication of any. Trustee McDonough stated this development can 
happen if rezoned B2 but in his opinion, it needs a lot more work in 
finding companies that are going to go into it and provide a development 
plan. Trustee Hancock noted he understands Trustee McDonough’s 
concerns but would rather see the parcel rezoned and move forward 
with some economic value.

Mayor Brandt stated when the Board has previously been in this 
situation they went through the development plans for each parcel 
separately and gave the example of Culver’s. Restaurants and hotels 
may not be attracted to the site until rezoning is approved. Trustee Servi 
stated his opinion is that it is not realistic to have a firm development 
plan at this point. 

Mayor Brandt noted there would be revenue from real estate transfer 
taxes as well as connection fees should the development of the property 
proceed.



Page 14
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

Trustee Grujanac asked if it is possible for the residents to form a 
committee and have a say on the project if it moves forward. Village 
Manager Burke noted there is nothing in the code that would provide for
this, but when the ARB reviews a development project, they go through 
a workshop session where members of the Public can attend, be
present, participate and offer comments. Mayor Brandt stated they 
would keep the email list they have and let the public know when the 
ARB meeting takes place.

It was the consensus of the Board to put this on the Regular Village 
Board meeting agenda for consideration and action.

Mayor Brandt closed the Public Hearing and reconvened the Special 
Committee of the Whole at 10:16 p.m. 

3.2 Finance and Administration
3.21 Consideration of a Resolution Approving Closed Session Meeting 

Minutes and Authorizing the Village Clerk to Make Certain Closed 
Session Meeting Minutes Available for Public Inspection First 
Review 2018 and Authorizing Destruction of Certain Audio 
Recordings of Closed Session Minutes (Village of Lincolnshire)

Village Manager Burke provided a brief summary of the semi-annual 
Resolution approving closed session meeting minutes and authorizing 
the Village Clerk to make certain closed session meeting minutes 
available for public inspection first review 2018 and authorizing 
destruction of certain audio recordings of closed session minutes.

It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 
Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.

3.22 Mid-Year Update on Fiscal Year 2018 Budget and Village Goals and 
Objectives for 2019 (Village of Lincolnshire)

Village Manager provided a presentation regarding a mid-year update 
on fiscal year 2018 Budget and Village goals and objectives for 2019. 

Mayor Brandt asked if the numbers presented represent the real estate 
transfer from the sale of Sedgebrook in the amount of $240,000. Village 
Manager Burke confirmed the numbers presented did not include the 
real estate transfer from the sale of Sedgebrook. Trustee Leider asked 
how the real estate transfer dollars are viewed. Village Manager Burke 
stated he budgets an annual average for this revenue and does not 
contemplate these one-time major property transactions, so the money 
is not reflected when going into the five-year financial forecast. 

Trustee Hancock noted the report states that at the six month mark 
general expenditures exceed revenues by $1.3 million. Village Manager 
Burke stated this is due to the timing of when the Village receives 



Page 15
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

property tax dollars and certain other revenue. Trustee Hancock asked 
what staff is forecasting. Village Manager Burke stated in the 
projections, based upon where the Village is at and where the Village 
has been historically at the sixth month mark, we will end the year 
positively in the General Operating Fund; across all departments, in 
total. The Capital Fund will come in slightly under budget. Water and 
Sewer sales are at 44% of revenues at the point of June but 
Lincolnshire has had one of the driest July’s on record, so sales are 
expected to increase over the next few months.

Trustee Leider asked for an explanation of cash flow coming in for 
special events as mentioned for the real estate transfer of Sedgebrook;
how is the money spent relative to regular cash flow coming in through 
the normal course of business. Village Manager Burke stated that at the 
end of the fiscal year, anything that exceeds the 75% funding balance 
policy the Board has established, gets transferred into the General 
Capital Fund and is segregated for infrastructure. These one-time 
revenues are not looked at as an opportunity to fund day-to-day 
operations but rather as a capital project/equipment funding opportunity.

Village Manager Burke concluded by stating there is a mid-year review 
in the packet of where staff is with goals and objectives by department. 

3.23 Consideration of Five-Year (2019-2023) Financial Forecast (Village 
of Lincolnshire)

Village Manager Burke provided a presentation regarding the five-year 
Financial Forecast. Village Manager Burke presented charts and 
information of the General Operating Fund – Fund Balance vs. Policy.

Trustee Grujanac asked about noticeable spikes in the charts. Finance 
Director/Treasurer Peterson stated the spike was related to the increase 
in water rates in the Water Fund, so the year ended up stronger and 
staff needs to make the transfer to the General Fund. The chart shows 
the best estimate at that moment. 

Village Manager Burke continued the presentation with charts related to 
the General Capital Fund – Fund Balance, General Fund – Revenues 
with Operating & Capital Expenses, and Water & Sanitary Sewer Fund 
– Annual Operating Expenses vs. Fund Balance.

Trustee Hancock asked if the Village is covering operating expenses 
with the increase of water rates. Village Manager Burke confirmed the 
Village is covering operating expenses due to the water rate increase. 
Trustee Hancock stated to properly charge for the use of sanitation, the 
Village needs to be charging more than just the cost of the water and 
include something for the infrastructure and asked Village Manager 
Burke if the Village is covering both of these elements adequately. 
Village Manager Burke stated these are not covered purely with just the 
rate increase and highlighted this in the chart showing the capital 



Page 16
MINUTES – Special Committee of the Whole Meeting
August 6, 2018

expense demand over the five-year period. Mayor Brandt asked if 
connection fees for the proposed projects are included in the chart. 
Village Manager Burke stated staff does not account for one-time 
connection fees in the budget since they are unknown. Village Attorney 
Simon stated there are rate studies that have to be done to project how
the water & sanitary sewer revenue & expenditures match. Trustee 
Leider stated when the Board set the rates it was with the idea that the 
Village was competitive with the market. Trustee McDonough stated the 
rates set are higher than the cost of purchase of the water. Trustee 
Leider stated to run the system takes more than the Village is charged
for purchase of the water. Mayor Brandt stated that in the past, the 
Village did not pass on the water rate increases regularly to residents,
and now the Village is trying to catch up. Village Manager Burke stated 
this was the reason the Village recently implemented the tiered rate. 
Mayor Brandt asked staff to provide comparisons of community rates, 
who the biggest users are, and information on current connection fees 
at the budget meeting. 

Village Manager Burke concluded his presentation with a chart related 
to Water & Sanitary Sewer Fund – General Fund Transfers to Water & 
Sewer Fund.

3.3 Public Works

3.4 Public Safety

3.5 Parks and Recreation

3.6 Judiciary and Personnel

4.0 ADJOURNMENT
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee McDonough seconded the motion to adjourn. 
Upon a voice vote, the motion was approved unanimously and Mayor Brandt declared 
the meeting adjourned at 10:40 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

Barbara Mastandrea
Village Clerk



Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 

Figure 1: Westgate Subdivision 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Committee of the Whole  
August 27, 2018 

 
Subject: Westgate of Lincolnshire Homeowners Association Fence Installation – 

Major PUD Amendment  
 

Action Requested: Preliminary Evaluation of a Petition for a Major Amendment to Westgate 
of Lincolnshire  Planned Unit Development (PUD) to Install a Fence on 
a Berm along Route 22/Half Day Road 
 

Petitioner: Westgate of Lincolnshire Homeowners Association 
 

Originated By/Contact: Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/CED Director 
 

Referred To: Architectural Review Board 
 
 
Background: 
� The Westgate of Lincolnshire Homeowners 

Association (HOA) seeks a Major Amendment to the 
Westgate of Lincolnshire Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) to install a fence on a berm along Route 22/Half 
Day Road to deter pedestrian traffic from and to 
Stevenson High School (SHS) through the Westgate 
neighborhood. The homeowner’s association also 
requests a waiver of internal Village fees.  

� The 41-home subdivision is zoned R3 Single-Family 
Residence with a PUD overlay. It is located directly 
east and south of the SHS campus. Route 22/Half Day 
Road borders the subdivision to the south. Hotz Road 
runs parallel to the east property line. Across Hotz 
Road are several residential properties with a mix of 
R1 and R3 Single Family Residence zoning. See 
Figure 1 for reference. 

� In June 1989, the Village Board approved Ordinance 
No. 89-1068-35 which included an annexation 
agreement and PUD approvals for the subject property. At that time, the Stevenson High 
School student body population was approximately 1,900 students. Since then, the school’s 
population has grown to nearly 4,200 students. SHS’s footprint and facilities have grown to 
accommodate population growth and these changes have also brought additional traffic to the 
area. SHS officials support the petitioner’s request. 

Proposal Summary & Staff Comments: 
 
Fence Proposal 
� The proposal is to install a fence on a berm that borders the southern edge of the subdivision 

(see Document 1). An existing 8’-tall fence runs along the northern and western property lines 
to separate Westgate from SHS. The current fence is constructed of a solid cedar “board-on-



Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 

board” with steel posts set in concrete (see Document 3). The proposed fence would serve as 
a continuation of the existing fence such that an 8’-tall angled section would carry 26’ before 
turning parallel to Route 22/Half Day Road (see Document 6). The fence would continue up 
the approximately 5’-tall berm, with the height of the fence gradually decreasing to 6’ and 
undulating with the berm. The section along Route 22/Half Day Road would measure 293’ in 
length (see Document 7). 

� The petitioner requests a major amendment to the PUD with the following three zoning 
exceptions: 
1) Increase the height of a fence adjacent to Half Day Road from the maximum permitted 6’ 

to 8’, per Section 6-15-3(A)(1)(c)(ii) of the Village Code; 
2) Placement of a fence on a berm which is not permitted, per Section 6-15-2(B)(2) of the 

Village Code; and 
3) A traditional board and batten style solid wood fence style which does not include post end 

caps as is required per Section 6-15-3(A)(1)(d)(ii). 

� Height of a fence adjacent to Half Day Road exception: The exception is required due to four 
transitional sections of fence exceeding the 6’-tall maximum established by the Village Code. 
The petitioner affirms taller sections of the fence are needed at this location to deter 
pedestrian traffic through the subdivision. Staff supports the gradual height decrease to 6’ 
along the majority length of the berm. 

� Placement of a fence on a berm exception:  This exception is required due to the landscaped 
berm that buffers the subdivision from Route 22/Half Day Road and the adjacent State right-
of-way, leaving no room for a fence outside the berm area. The petitioner is confident minimal 
damage will occur to existing landscaping, and have agreed to install 60 salt-resistant plants 
along both sides of the fence to “soften” aesthetic impact (see Document 11).  

� Fence style without post end caps exception: This exception is required for consistency with 
the existing fence along the west and north property lines. The current Village Code was 
revised in 2014 and requires post caps. However, the traditional board and batten style solid 
wood fence allowed by Village Code is substantially similar to the existing fence with the 
exception of the post end caps (see page 7 of Document 10). Staff supports this request. 

Fee Waiver Request  

� The petitioner also requests a waiver of application fees under Sections 5-3-2(A) and 5-3-2(B) 
of the Village Code, which allows an exemption of fee payments up to $5,000 for qualifying 
organizations. This would apply only to “internal” Village fees and does not include fees such 
as Village Attorney fees and public hearing notice publication costs. As the Westgate of 
Lincolnshire Homeowners Association is classified as a “not-for-profit corporation” per the 
Illinois Secretary of State, the Village Attorney believes their exemption request is in 
accordance with the Lincolnshire Village Code. The Village has previously granted fee waivers 
for requests submitted by School Districts 103 and 125, churches, and other taxing bodies.   

Review & Approval Process: 
The proposed Major Amendment to the PUD requires evaluation by the Architectural Review 
Board (ARB) for the fence design and landscaping requirements. Following the ARB 
recommendation, a public hearing is required at the Committee of the Whole regarding the PUD 
amendment, with a final vote by the Village Board. The Zoning Board is not involved because 
this is PUD.  

 



Agenda Item 
3.11 COW 

 

Recommendation: 
Preliminary evaluation and referral to the ARB for design review. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Cover letter from the Westgate of Lincolnshire Homeowners Association. 
� Document 2: Planning and Zoning Application. 
� Document 3: image of existing fence along Stevenson Drive. 
� Document 4: image of existing corner and berm at Stevenson Drive and Route 22/Half Day 

Road. 
� Document 5: rendering of proposed angular fence extension at Stevenson Drive and Route 

22/Half Day Road. 
� Document 6: aerial plan of existing fence and proposed fence extension. 
� Document 7: rendering of north elevation of proposed fence extension from Route 22/Half 

Day Road. 
� Document 8: Letter requesting waiver of application fees. 
� Document 9: Westgate of Lincolnshire Homeowners Association Corporation File Detail 

Report. 
� Document 10: Chapter 15 of the Lincolnshire Village Code. 
� Document 11: proposed landscape plan. 
 

Meeting History 
Committee of the Whole Meeting: August 27, 2018 

 
  



Westgate of Lincolnshire 
8 Dartmouth Court 

Lincolnshire, IL  60069 

August 16, 2018

To: Mayor Liz Brandt, Village Trustees, Ben Gilbertson, Tonya Zozulya, Walter Dittrich
Village of Lincolnshire, One Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL  60069

Cc: Sean Carney, Stevenson HS District Office

All,

On behalf of the homeowners of Westgate and its Board of Directors, this letter expresses our application for 
approval to extend an existing partial boundary fence.  The extension will be near Westgate’s southern 
boundary at Illinois Highway Route 22.  We seek a variance for placement of the fence on a berm. Details 
will be provided below.

NEED FOR THE FENCE EXTENSION:

Westgate adjoins Stevenson High School, whose student population has grown over the years to over 4,000.
Some students accessing the high school for classes and sporting events create problems for Westgate, both
as pedestrians and as parkers. An existing 8’ cedar “board on board” boundary fence separates Westgate
from the school on our north and west sides.  However, there is no fence at the southwest corner of our 
property and no fence along the IL-22 highway itself.  We have an ongoing issue with nonresident students
crossing our southern berm to access Westgate from the highway sidewalk.  Besides causing wear and tear to 
the berm and other landscaping, the trespassers drop litter, make noise, and use Westgate as a “cut through” 
to reach homes on Hotz Road and beyond, where, unfortunately, some homeowners rent driveway parking to 
them.  Some also park inside Westgate itself, forcing us to act as private parking police and in some cases 
have cars towed away.  We seek to cut off the flow of pedestrians across our southern berm by extending the 
existing fence by approximately 319’, which is about half of our southern boundary (further east the berm is 
higher and denser, and there is not much incentive for trespassers to cross over it).  We have discussed these 
issues with Sean Carney at the Stevenson HS District Office, and he is supportive of our plan.

DESCRIPTION OF THE FENCE EXTENSION:

Please refer to Exhibit A (photo), showing a section of our existing fence, which is 8’ high, constructed of 
cedar “board on board” with steel posts set in concrete.  A small amount of arch is at the top of each section.  
We propose to continue this same construction and transition the fence height from 8’ to 6’ for aesthetic 
consistency with the existing fence.

Exhibit B (photo) shows the southern end of our existing north-south fence near our southwest corner, next 
to Stevenson Drive.  An existing sign, “Westgate of Lincolnshire” is also seen in the photo.  The proposed 
fence extension will pass behind this sign, as shown in

Exhibit C, which is a photographic representation of the beginning of the extension, with a 26’ angled 
segment passing behind the Westgate sign before turning east along the southern berm.  The sign will not be 
moved or modified, and a second plant will be added where shown to balance the landscaping.

Exhibit D (plan view) shows the location of the fence extension, with dimensions and locations of fence post 
holes.  Beyond the 26’ angled segment at the corner, the fence will run 293’ east along our southern berm, 5’ 

Document 1



in from the IL-22 ROW (as agreed with Walter Dittrich). After a transition segment the fence will be 6’ 
high, and will be constructed in 8’ wide sections, except for a 10’ wide section crossing over the location of a 
water main (as agreed with Walter Dittrich), and a few 6’ wide sections where needed to achieve specified 
dimensions.

Exhibit E (photo and diagram) is an elevation view looking north at the entire length of the fence extension.  
Measurements were taken of the height of the IDOT-constructed retaining wall, as well as the height of the 
berm at 5’ in from the ROW.  The sidewalk was used as the reference for these measurements, which were 
used to create the lower diagram on the exhibit page, to a vertical scale which matches the horizontal scale.  
The 6’ fence was then added to the diagram.  Finally, a copy of the resulting fence outline was then 
superimposed on the upper panoramic photograph to show where the fence will be (vertically) with respect 
to the berm and its landscaping. The transition from 8’h (matching existing fence) to 6’ high will occur just 
east of the angled segment, as shown in the Exhibit E diagram at lower left.  The transition takes advantage 
of the rise of the berm at that location, so that the top of the fence remains approximately level while the 
bottom rises with the berm until the fence height is 6’ for the remainder of its east-west length.

TREES AND LANDSCAPING:

Fortunately, almost all trees on the berm are more than 5’ back from the ROW.  We have met with fence 
contractor Action Fence and landscaping contractor Arrow Shop, and we believe that no trees will need to be 
removed.  Many trees will require trimming, which will be done by our landscaping contractor.

Most of the large trees on the berm were planted 25-30 years ago, and their upper canopy produces so much 
shade within the berm that landscaping plants seek light near the front of the berm along the retaining wall.  
For this reason, many of the existing shrubs and ground covers are already within the 5’ fence setback, and 
will remain. In addition, we will plant a total of 60 of the following salt-tolerant plants within the setback.
These have been proposed by our landscaper: Little Spire Russian Sage, Arrowood Viburnum, Annabelle 
Hydrangea, Stella De Oro Daylily, Variegated Ornamental Grass, and shredded hardwood mulch.

VARIANCE:

A fence on berm variance is requested and is needed because there is no other place the fence could go.  At 
the fence location (5’ in from ROW) the berm is never very high (reaching a maximum of 52 inches) and its 
height variation is never abrupt. For this reason, we believe the effect of the berm is small and the variance 
should be granted.  We also note that there is another place on IL-22 in Lincolnshire (east of Riverwoods on 
the south side) which already has a similar fence installed on a berm higher than Westgate’s.

CONCLUSION:

Westgate respectfully asks for your support in letting us achieve this project.  We thank all that have helped 
us and look forward to the approvals necessary to complete our project before the new school season starts.

For the Westgate Board of Directors, Sincerely,

Gordon Grote (Acting VP, Special Projects), (847) 612-6728

Robert Barnhill (Treasurer), (847) 634-1017

Attachments: Exhibits A through E

Document 1



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 2



Document 3



Document 4



Proposed Fence Extension: Elevation View of Angled Section

Westgate of Lincolnshire

Prepared by Bob Barnhill, (847)634-1017

Westgate of Lincolnhire

Revision C

June 19, 2018

26'

Existing fence

Proposed fence 
joins existing fence Existing plantNew plant to 

be added
Existing sign

Proposed fence 
angled section

Proposed fence 
E-W section

Document 5



Reference 
point marked 

on pavement: 
aligned with 

ROW and 
existing fence

26
'

26'

E
xi

st
in

g 
Fe

nc
e

293'

Existing Sign:
“Westgate of
Lincolnshire”

Westgate of Lincolnshire
Proposed Fence Extension: Plan View

Prepared by Bob Barnhill, (847)634-1017

Westgate of Lincolnhire

Revision C

June 16, 2018

5'

20'

5'

5'

ROW

ROW

8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 10Fence
Extension

8

6
6

6

8 8 8 8 8 8 8
8 8 8 8 8 8 8 tbd

8

8 6Westgate Drive

Document 6



8'h 6'h7.5'h 7'h 6.5'h 6'h 6'h 6' Fence on Berm 5' behind ROW6'h sections continue ...

Transitional
fence sections

Fence
sections
match

existing
fence

height

Westgate of Lincolnshire
Proposed Fence Extension: North Elevation View

293'

Height of berm at 5' behind ROW

Height of wall (at ROW) Grade reference (sidewalk)

Height of 6' fence on berm 5' behind ROWHeight of wall (at ROW) Grade reference (sidewalk)

Height of berm at 5' behind ROW

Height of 6' fence on berm 5' behind ROW

8'h

Angled segment joins existing fence

Angled segment joins existing fence

26'

Prepared by Bob Barnhill, (847)634-1017

Westgate of Lincolnshire

Revision D

August 13, 2018

Document 7



Document 8



Document 9



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 1

CHAPTER 15

FENCES AND SCREENS

SECTION

6-15-1: Intent and Purpose
6-15-2: General Requirements
6-15-3: Specific Requirements by Type
6-15-4: Permits, Variations and Exceptions

6-15-1: INTENT AND PURPOSE: This Chapter is intended to regulate the
location, appearance and construction of residential and non-
residential fences and screens that may be constructed in the Village. 
The purpose of these regulations is to maintain the public health, 
safety and welfare, to define boundaries, to protect the property 
values and economic well-being of the Village, and to promote the 
openness of residential yards in the Village. 

6-15-2: GENERAL REQUIREMENTS:

A. Location:

1. General:  

a. Fences and screens (except underground electronic fences) 
shall not be located within a required front or corner side yard 
setback and shall not extend beyond the front façade of a 
primary structure. If the front façade of a primary structure is 
located within a required front or corner side yard setback, 
constructed fences or screens shall not extend into that 
required setback. 

b. Any owner desiring to locate a fence in, over, upon or across 
an easement shall be required to submit a waiver on a form 
supplied by the Village of Lincolnshire.  

2. Floodway: No fence shall be located within the Floodway except to 
the extent permitted by the Lake County Watershed Development 
Ordinance, as amended. By way of example but not permission, a
fence may be permitted in the floodway if it is associated with a 
recreational facility, such as playing fields or trail systems, and is 
designed to be 50% open when viewed from any one direction and 
parallel to the direction of flood flows.

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 2

B. Appearance: 

1. Color: All fences and screens shall be of a color which blends with 
the natural surroundings or is complementary to a color used in 
the primary structure on the lot. All metallic fences permitted by the 
provisions of this Chapter shall be a pre-finished white, black, dark 
brown or dark green color. Permitted chain link fences may be 
vinyl coated in above colors.   

2. Height: The overall standing fence height may be increased by 
no more than 4”to accommodate decorative fence elements
such as caps. Fences shall not be placed on constructed 
earthen berms or mounds, unless the Village Board has granted 
a variation to the fence height requirements. 

3. Materials: Fences shall be constructed of a non-metallic or 
ornamental metal material and must be of the open type with a 
finished side facing outward, unless otherwise specified in the
provisions of this title. Chain link, barbed wire and other non-self 
supporting fences are prohibited, except where they are 
specifically permitted by this Code. Metal screens are prohibited. 

C. Construction Requirements: All fences and screens in the Village 
require a building permit issued by the Village. All fences and screens 
shall be constructed of materials and in a manner which meets or 
exceeds the requirements of all adopted codes. Fence posts shall be 
designed of a decay or corrosion resistant material and shall be 
embedded into tamped earth, compactable gravel or concrete, to a 
depth which will ensure structural stability.

6-15-3: SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS BY TYPE: The following 
requirements are supplemental to the General Requirements 
described in Section 6-15-2, and where there is a conflict between 
the General Requirements and Specific Requirements set forth 
below, the Specific Requirements shall take precedence and 
control.

A. Fences:

1. Yard Fences:

a. Location: 

(i) Fences shall not be located within a required front or corner 
side yard setback and shall not extend beyond the front 
façade of a primary structure. However, fences shall be 

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 3

permitted to be located within a required corner side yard 
setback on lots with a corner side yard adjacent to Half Day 
Road or Riverwoods Road.  If the front façade of a primary 
structure is located within a required front or corner side 
yard setback, a fence shall not extend into that required 
setback. Fences in adjacent interior side yards which abut 
Half Day Road are required to be constructed so that such 
fences are aligned horizontally, unless such alignment 
conflicts with other regulations of this Section. No portion of 
a fence shall be constructed within a dedicated 
conservancy area or conservancy easement that runs 
continuously between adjacent lot lines. (Amd. Ord. 14-
3328-55 eff. 06-09-14)

Illustration for 6-15-3-A-1(a)(i)

Illustration for 6-15-3-A-1(a)(i)

Fence permitted along 
property lines (No 
Conservancy Area)

CONSERVANCY 
AREA

Fence not permitted 
into Conservancy Area

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 4

(ii) A yard fence may be constructed on a vacant residential lot 
contiguous to a lot improved with a primary structure, 
provided that the two lots are under the same ownership 
and said fence encloses both lots so as not to create a 
physical barrier between the two lots. The authority herein 
granted shall expire within one (1) year following the date 
on which ownership of the adjacent lots is separated, 
unless the new owner receives a building permit and
initiates construction of a primary structure on the vacant lot
during that term.

b. Opacity: Fences and gates shall contain no greater than 60% 
opaque materials, as measured horizontally along each foot of 
the length of the fence facing each yard, unless further 
modified in this Section below:  

(i) Lots with primary structures which have a front yard on Half 
Day Road or Riverwoods Road may have solid fences, 
provided that such fences are located no further from either 
arterial road than the rear façade of the primary structure. 

(ii) Lots with primary structures which have rear yards on Half
Day Road or Riverwoods Road may have solid fences, 
provided that such fences are located along the rear 
property line that is adjacent to Half Day Road or 
Riverwoods Road.

(iii) Lots with primary structures which have a corner side yard 
on Half Day road or Riverwoods Road may have solid 
fences provided they are along the corner side property 
line. (Amd. Ord. 14-3328-55 eff. 06-09-14).

(iv)Lots with primary structures that are adjacent to an
incompatible land use may have solid fences.

c. Height: 

(i) Yard fences that are constructed of a non-metallic or 
ornamental metal material shall not exceed four feet (4’) 
in height, except that yard fences designed of an 
ornamental metal material on lots in the R1 and R2 
Single-Family Residence Zoning Districts shall not 
exceed six feet (6’) in height. 

(ii) That portion of a fence that is parallel to the right-of-way 
and is located on a lot with a primary structure which has a 
front yard on Half Day Road or Riverwoods Road and that 
is located no further from either arterial road than the rear 

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 5

façade of the primary structure shall not exceed six feet (6') 
in height.  

a. Fences along the rear property line of a lot that has a primary 
structure which has a rear yard adjacent to Half Day Road or 
Riverwoods Road shall not exceed six (6’) in height. 

b. Lots with a corner side yard adjacent to Half Day Road or 
Riverwoods Road shall be permitted to have a fence along 
the corner side property line not exceeding six (6’) in height. 
(Amd. Ord. 14-3328-55 eff. 06-09-14).

Illustration for 6-15-3-A-1(c)(ii)

Illustration for 6-15-3-A-1(c)(iii)

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 6

Illustration for 6-15-3-A-1(c)(iv) 

c. Fences that are provided for the purpose of separating 
residential properties from an incompatible land use shall not 
exceed eight feet (8') in height.  

d. Materials; Appearance:

(i) Materials: Subject to subparagraphs (ii) and (iii), yard 
fences shall be constructed of non-metallic or ornamental
metal materials. All fences taller than four feet (4’) adjacent 
to Riverwoods Road shall be designed of non-metallic 
materials only.

(ii)  Half Day Road Fences: Fences taller than four feet (4’) 
located on lots on Half Day Road shall be constructed of 
wood with a natural wood finish. All solid fences shall be
designed based on the following design concepts:  

1.   A traditional style solid wood fence with post end caps.
2.   A traditional style solid wood fence with square lattice

on top and post end caps.
3. A traditional style solid wood fence with diagonal 

lattice on top and post end caps.
4. A traditional Board and Batten style solid wood 

fence with post end caps.

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 7

  

(iii) Ornamental Metal Fences: Ornamental metal yard fences 
shall be constructed of a metal material and be designed 
based on the following design concepts: 

1. An ornamental metal fence with a top rail(s).
2. An ornamental metal fence with a top rail(s) and an 

extended bottom baluster. 
3. An ornamental metal fence with a top rail(s), extended 

bottom baluster and decorative finials.
4. An ornamental metal fence with a top rail(s) and

decorative rings and finials. 

1. A Traditional style solid wood fence 
with post end caps.

2. A Traditional style solid wood fence 
with square lattice on top and post end 
caps.

3. A Traditional style solid wood fence 
with diagonal lattice on top and post 
end caps.

4. A Traditional Board and Batten style 
solid wood fence with post end caps.

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 8

2. Swimming Pool Fences: Swimming pool fences are regulated by 
Section 5-5-6 of Title 5, Building Regulations.

3. Tennis Court Fences:

a. Location: Tennis court fencing shall be located along both 
ends of a tennis court and may completely enclose the 
tennis court to achieve a four-sided enclosure. Tennis court 
fences shall not be permitted in any required setbacks.

b. Height and Opacity: Tennis court fences shall not exceed ten 
feet (10') in height and shall be of the open type.  

c. Materials: Tennis court fences may be constructed of a 
metallic material, including chain link. Chain link fences shall 
be a minimum of eleven gauge wire with a mesh size not to 
exceed one and a half inches (1-1/2").

B. Pet Enclosures:  

1. Location: Pet enclosures are prohibited in any required yard
setback area and shall not extend beyond the front and corner-
side facade of the primary structure and shall not be visible from
the public way. 

1. An ornamental metal fence with a 
top rail(s). 

2. An ornamental metal fence with a top 
rail(s) and an extended bottom baluster. 

3. An ornamental metal fence with a top 
rail(s), extended bottom baluster and 
decorative finials. 

4. An ornamental metal fence with a top 
rail(s) and decorative rings and finials. 

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 9

2. Number: Only one (1) pet enclosure shall be permitted on a lot.

3. Height and Size: Pet enclosures shall not exceed six feet (6') in
height and 250 square feet in area.

4. Materials: Pet enclosures may be constructed of a metallic or non-
metallic material. Chain link fencing may be used, provided that it 
is a minimum of eleven gauge wire with a mesh size of no more 
than one and a half inches (1-1/2").

C. Underground Electronic Pet Enclosures (Dog Fences): Electronic 
pet enclosures placed underground are regulated by Section 8-3-9(E) 
of Title 8, Public Ways and Property. 

D. Non-Residential Fences:

1. Location: Fences in non-residential areas of the Village may be 
permitted subject to the recommendation of the Architectural 
Review Board and approval by the Village Board. Non-residential 
fences that are taller than 4’ in height shall be placed a minimum 
of four feet (4') inside a property line to allow adequate space for 
required landscaping.

2. Height: Fences in non-residential areas shall not exceed six feet 
(6') in height, except as permitted in Section 6-15-3(A)(1)(c)(iv). 

3. Landscaping: Fences in non-residential areas that are taller than 
four feet (4’) in height shall be screened with landscaping which 
complies with Section 13-2-3 of the Village Code.

E. Screens

1. Ground-Mounted Mechanical Equipment: Public Utility: Public 
Utility ground-mounted equipment, which is placed in a required 
yard setback, in the event that no feasible location exists 
outside the required setback, shall be screened. Screens shall 
consist of plant material that provides full year-round 
concealment at the time of installation. The installation of such 
equipment and required landscaping shall not infringe on the 
visibility triangle, as depicted in Section 12-8-1(A)(4) of the 
Village Code, except to the extent required to comply with 
workplace safety standards. 

2. Ground-Mounted Mechanical Equipment--Other Than Public 
Utility: 

a. Location: Ground-mounted mechanical equipment and 
associated screens are prohibited in required yard setback 

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 10

areas and shall not extend beyond any front or corner-side 
facade of the primary structure.

b. Height: Screens shall be a minimum of six inches (6") above 
the highest point of the ground-mounted equipment being 
screened and shall not exceed twelve feet (12') in height in 
non-residential districts and six feet (6') in height in residential
districts. 

c.  Materials:

(i) Residential Screens: Ground-mounted mechanical 
equipment (including, but not limited to, satellite antennas,
ancillary power generators and pool-related equipment) 
shall be screened by plant material or berms, unless a 
permanent screen wall is constructed to be compatible with 
the design of the primary structure on the lot. Heating, air 
conditioning units and satellite antennas that are 1 meter 
(39.37”) in width/diameter or less in residential zoning 
districts shall be exempt from the screening requirements of 
this Chapter.

(ii) Non-Residential Screens: Screens shall be constructed of 
materials which blend with the surroundings or are 
complementary to those used in the primary structure on 
the lot. Plant materials or berms used as a screen must 
provide full and complete concealment at the time of 
installation and throughout the year.  

3. Privacy Screens:

a. Location: Screens for privacy purposes shall not be erected 
within a required yard setback and shall not extend beyond the 
front or corner-side facade of the primary structure. The 
location of a screen is further restricted to areas adjacent to 
patios or decks and one end of each screen must be 
immediately adjacent to the primary structure on the lot.

b. Height: Privacy screens shall not exceed a height of six feet 
(6') above the existing grade where such screen is erected. 

c. Length: The cumulative length of all privacy screens on a lot 
shall be limited to twenty-four (24) linear feet, measured along 
the center line of the screen.

4. Refuse and Recycling Screens:

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 11

a. General: Refuse and recycling screens shall be required for 
all non-residential uses.

b. Location: Screens may be erected in any areas of a lot, 
provided that the screen does not extend beyond the front or 
corner-side facade of the primary structure. The location of the 
required screen shall not be within five feet (5') of any property 
line.

c.  Height: Screens shall be a minimum of six inches (6") above
the highest point of the object being screened and shall not 
exceed six feet (6') in height.

d. Design and Materials: Screens shall consist of three solid sides 
and a solid gate on the fourth side. Screens shall be
constructed of materials which blend with the surroundings or 
are complementary to those used in the primary structure 
served by the refuse or recycling containers.

6-15-4: PERMITS, VARIATIONS AND EXCEPTIONS 

A. Permit Applications: Application for a fence or screen permit shall be 
on a form designated by the Village and shall be accompanied by the 
following information:

1. Three (3) copies of an accurate plat of survey which indicates the 
proposed location of such fence or screen and any other 
structures and paved surfaces on the lot.

2. Three (3) copies of a cross-section/elevation which indicates the 
depth of the posts, total height, material and method of attachment 
for the fence.

3. A Landscape Plan must be submitted for review and approval with 
all applications for non-residential fences that are taller than 4’ in 
height. In addition, a landscape plan must be submitted for review
and approval with all applications for public utility and non-public 
utility residential and non-residential ground-mounted mechanical 
equipment where landscape screening is proposed. The 
Landscape Plan shall indicate: 

a.  The location, size and type of any existing and proposed plant 
material that will obscure said fence or ground-mounted 
mechanical equipment from adjacent properties and public 
way(s) and

b. That the plant material will provide visual relief throughout 
the year. A letter from the property owner or a signed 

Document 10



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-15: FENCES AND SCREENS 
Revised 06/09/2014  Page 12

contract must be submitted with all  Landscape Plans 
which indicates the date the required plant material will be
installed.

4. An approved easement waiver on a form provided by the Village is 
required when any improvement defined in this Chapter is to be 
erected in, over or upon an easement. The letter will be recorded 
with the Lake County Recorder of Deeds by the Village; and

5. Any additional information as requested by the Village.

B. Variations and Exceptions: The Village Board may authorize a 
variation for a different height, length, material, location or color of a 
fence or screen if substantial proof of practical difficulties or particular 
hardships in carrying out the strict letter of any provisions of this 
Chapter is provided by the petitioner in the manner required for other 
variations of the Village's Zoning Code as listed in Chapter 14 of the 
Title. 

Any fence or screen for which a building permit has been legally 
issued prior to the effective date of this Chapter as required by law 
may be maintained or repaired provided the cost of the improvement 
is less than fifty percent (50%) of the cost of erecting a new fence or 
screen. If the cost of improvement is fifty-one percent (51%) of the 
cost of erecting a new fence or screen, the provisions of this Chapter 
must be met when such fence or screen is repaired or maintained. All 
other persons to whom a permit is issued after the effective date of 
this Ordinance must follow its provisions.

Document 10



Document 11



 

Agenda Item 
3.12, COW 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Committee of the Whole 
August 27, 2018 

 
Subject:  Culver’s Restaurant Wall Sign Illumination - 405 Milwaukee 

Avenue  
 

Action Requested: Preliminary Evaluation of a Request for a Major Amendment to the 
Lincolnshire Marketplace Planned Unit Development to Permit 
Existing Culver’s Wall Signs to be Internally Illuminated    
  

Petitioner:  Culver’s of Lincolnshire  
 

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Economic Development Coordinator  
Department of Community & Economic Development 
 

Advisory Board Review: Architectural Review Board  
 

 
Background: 
� Culver’s of Lincolnshire, the petitioner and tenant of the Culver’s restaurant building at 405 

Milwaukee Avenue, seeks to amend the Lincolnshire Marketplace Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) to permit existing wall signs to be internally illuminated. Draper & 
Kramer, the property owner, supports the request.  

 
� The 4,310-square-foot restaurant is 

located on Parcel C-1 of the 12-
acre Lincolnshire Marketplace 
PUD, at the northeast corner of 
Milwaukee Avenue and Route 22, 
as shown in the attached Site Plan 
and Figure 1 on the right.   

 
� The building is located in the R5 

Mixed-Use General Residence 
District in the Lincolnshire 
Marketplace PUD and in the 
Downtown Sign District.  

 
� On November 14, 2016, the Village 

Board approved an Ordinance 
amending the Lincolnshire 
Marketplace PUD to allow Culver’s 
restaurant with a drive-through with PUD exceptions. The exceptions included: 

 
o Increasing the wall sign letter height from 18” to 34”;  
o Increasing the sign face height (letters and graphics combined) from 24” to 45”;  
o Allowing a wall sign on the north elevation which does not face a public street;  
o Allowing an electronic message board sign with front-lit internal illumination and 

the display of products and services (flavor of the day); and  
o Allowing a blade sign in a location not adjacent to a public entrance.  

 

Figure 1: Property Location  



 

Agenda Item 
3.12, COW 

 
� The 2016 approved development plans for Culver’s included three 30-square-foot externally 

lit wall signs on the north, south, and west elevations. Section 12-9-1(B)(9) of the Sign Code 
does not allow front-lit internal wall sign illumination for properties in the Downtown Sign 
District (see attached Document 3). Front-lit illumination allows light to filter through each 
letter. Signs in the Downtown Sign District may only be backlit/halo lit or be illuminated via 
external light fixtures such as goosenecks. In 2016, Culver’s initially proposed backlit 
illumination for the wall signs; reviewed by the Village Board at the preliminary evaluation 
meeting on June 27, 2016 and by the Architectural Review Board on September 27, 2016. 
However, Culver’s amended their request from internal illumination to external illumination 
before returning to the Village Board for public hearing and consideration on October 10, 
2016. The Culver’s building opened in spring 2018 with the approved externally-illuminated 
wall signs.  

 
Request Summary & Staff Comments:  
� As stated in the petitioner’s cover letter and shown in the presentation packet (see attached 

Document 2), Culver’s proposes internal front-lit illumination for the three existing wall signs. 
The request states external illumination is not effective in illuminating the signs, causes 
confusion, and makes the building appear closed, thereby turning potential customers away. 
Culver’s indicates the existing signs were designed for front-lit internal illumination 
consistent with Culver’s brand and other Culver’s in the region and across the country. No 
other wall sign changes are proposed.  
 

� Staff recently visited the property and noted the wall signs appear dark. Staff discussed with 
Culver’s the possibility of changing external illumination to backlit, which is permitted by 
code. Culver’s indicated backlit illumination will not meet their requirements.  
 

� Culver’s submitted the attached letters of support from their customers regarding changing 
the approved illumination to internal.  

 
� The below chart compares the existing Culver’s wall sign illumination with that allowed by 

the Sign Code and used by adjacent Lincolnshire businesses in the Downtown Sign District. 
All these adjacent signs, except the ones in the Oak Tree Corners Center, are either backlit 
or externally lit, meeting code requirements regarding illumination. In 2016, the Village 
Board approved a variance for front-lit internal wall sign illumination for all Oak Tree Corners 
wall signs as part of a center-wide sign package because the code-required backlit 
illumination was found not feasible due to the mansard roof building design.     

 

    Sign Code 
Existing  
Culver's  McDonald's 

Dunkin' 
Donuts 

Oak Tree Corners Center 
(e.g., Bonta, Athletico, 

Joli) 
Strawberry 

Field  

Illumination  
Backlit or 
external External Backlit External Front-lit Internal External  

 
 

Approval Process: 
1. Architectural Review Board – The ARB will conduct a design review regarding the 

proposed front-lit internal wall sign illumination.  
 

2. Village Board – the Village Board will hold a Public Hearing regarding the Major PUD 
amendment, consider ARB recommendations, and make a final decision regarding the 
petitioners’ request.  

 



 

Agenda Item 
3.12, COW 

 
Recommendation: 
Preliminary feedback from the Village Board regarding the proposal for internal wall sign 
illumination, and referral to the Architectural Review Board for design review. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Document 1: Site Plan, prepared by OKW Architects.  
� Document 2:  Presentation Packet, prepared by Culver’s of Lincolnshire and Priority Sign, 

with the cover letter dated August 3, 2018. 
� Document 3: Sign Code wall sign illumination requirements for the Downtown Sign District.   
 

Meeting History 
Committee of the Whole Preliminary Evaluation (current) August 27, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
V:\Subdivisions\Downtown\Culvers_Signs\8_27_18_InternalWallSignIllumination\8_27_18_COW_Culvers
WallSigns.doc 



EXISTING 
RETAIL B

(FRESH MARKET)

EXISTING 
DETENTION

INDIAN CREEK

M
ILW

A
U

K
E

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

CULVER'S

HALF DAY RD

Document 1



Document 2



















 
Culver’s Internal Wall Sign Illumination Public Comments 

 
 
Melissa Gordon 
8/17/18 
 
Good Afternoon- 
 
I am a resident of Lincolnshire and would really like to see the Culvers signs internally 
illuminated to give better visibility to the business.  We were thrilled to have this business open 
and would like it to be successful.  Currently at night, Culvers appears to be closed thus deterring 
people from stopping there.   
 
Thanks for your consideration! 
Melissa Gordon 
 
Jan Rabin  
8/17/18 
 
Dear Village. 
 
How wonderful that Culver’s is in our town in a commercial area.  This letter is to request that 
Culver’s be allowed to light up their sign.  
 
A store that is open and lit inside,  but does not have a lit sign outside creates confusion for 
passerbys.   On a busy road , this ambiguity is especially dangerous.  Drivers will be distracted 
seeing lights and people inside Culver’s , but a conflicting dark sign. They will be looking away 
from the road to try to see if Culver’s is really opened or closed.  For this reason alone, I would 
allow Culver’s to illuminate their sign. 
 
In addition, I can’t understand why in a commercial area there would be sign illumination 
restrictions. 
It seems obvious that a dark sign would deter business. If we have welcomed Culver’s into our 
area and want them to succeed, they need a lit sign. 
 
Respectfully, 
Jan Rabin, 
39 Canterbury Road 
 
Beth Ann and Lee Fell 
8/17/18 
 
Tonya 
I wanted to reach out to you in support of the request by Mr. Weasler to illuminate the Culvers 
wall signs. I think this request is fair as shown with the attached pictures.  It does appear that 



Culvers is not open when passing by due to the Culvers signs not being illuminated.  Also, since 
there are no residents that this would be effecting from dusk to 11 pm (close) this should not 
cause disturbance to any residents.  I don’t think the proposed lighting will cause any nuisance 
glare at the property lines or ROW.  Thanks. 
 
Beth Ann and Lee Fell 
2 Kensington Drive 
 
 
Rana Hashemi 
8/18/18 
 
Good morning Tonya, 
 
So great seeing you the other day. I am writing to you in support of Culver's signage/light 
request.  Culver's has been a great addition to our Lincolnshire family. Their continuous support 
for different causes and Stevenson high school has been a tremendous gift to our 
community.   It's important and it's upon us to support and ensure the success of businesses like 
Culver's in Lincolnshire.  So if the additional signage and lighting would help their business I 
don't see any reason why we shouldn't support that. 
 
I'd be more than happy to attend a Village Board meeting and make the case on this matter.    
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or concerns.  
 
Thank you so much for your kind attention.  
 
Rana Hashemi  
847 668 0227 
 
 
Mindy Abern 
8/18/18 
 
Hello, 
 
I am writing in support of Culver's request to the Village to illuminate their exterior building 
signs. 
As a busy working mom, I would always want to know if Culver's is open at night when I'm 
in need of a quick drive-through dinner option, and I always feel safer with exterior lights on 
in the dark. 
 
Thank you, 
Mindy Abern 
3 Preston Ct. 
Lincolnshire  
   
 



 
Jennifer and Bill Axelsen  
8/18/18 
 
Dear Tonya, 
 
We have been Lincolnshire residents for almost 18 years, and have seen many businesses come and 
leave our community.  
 
It has come to our attention that the Village of Lincolnshire, after welcoming Culver’s, is forbidding them 
from lighting up their namesake sign at night. This brand-new new Culver’s building is beautiful & classy 
in every regard!  
 
We have seen photos of the sign on and the sign off. Quite frankly, with the sign off, the new restaurant 
not only does not look open for business, it is eerily dark and a tad unwelcoming. And lights typically 
make things safer at night, for visibility while walking up to the restaurant. We truly do not understand 
how & why the Village is putting this unusual restriction on this new business.  Surely, the Village of 
Lincolnshire realized that Culver’s is a vibrant, “fast-food” style restaurant that would naturally only 
thrive if it was visible during open hours after dark. 
 
We strongly encourage you to allow this wonderful new Culver’s to turn on any exterior lighting they are 
requesting. 
 
Thank you, 
Jennifer and Bill Axelsen  
(and Joe & Ben, our children, who frequent Culver’s ;) 
13 Cornell Drive 
Lincolnshire  
 
Hyo 
8/19/18 
 
Tonya, 
 
My family really enjoys Culver's.  Its also a great source for tax revenue for the village.  I would like to 
voice my support to allow Culver's to turn on their sign at night so people know the business is open. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Hyo. 
 
 
Todd Gillis 
8/20/18 
 
 
Good Morning Tonya, 
 



I hope you had a great weekend!  I just heard about a ridiculous requirement for the new Culver’s 
lighting, which makes them look like they are closed when it gets dark out.  My wife, Diane and I 
have lived in Lincolnshire for the past 21 years and we have seen businesses go in and out of business. 
 
We would sincerely appreciate it if you and the Village Board would kindly allow the new Lincolnshire 
Culver's to illuminate the restaurant's internally-lit exterior signs, instead of requiring them to illuminate 
their exterior signs with exterior can lights, which makes the restaurant appear to be closed and less safe 
during the evening hours. 
 
I hope you and the board do not want this business to fail and provide financial hardship for one of my 
dear friends who is trying to help the Lincolnshire economy and make a living.  This lighting restriction 
puts the Culver’s in a competitive disadvantage.  We did a little research and discovered that the 
competing restaurants across Milwaukee Avenue, such as McDonald's and Bonta, are currently allowed to 
use their internally-lit exterior signage and see no reason Culver’s should not be able to do the same. 
 
Attached are photo’s of the Culver’s sign off as is the current requirement and the Culver’s sign on as any 
business such as this should be allowed to do.  Having the Culver’s sign on makes the area look more 
vibrant and beautiful the way it should be.   
 
Thank you for hopefully allowing Culver's to use their internally-lit exterior signage, as soon 
as possible, we sincerely appreciate it! 
 
Bes Regards, 
 
Todd Gillis 
160 Pembroke Drive  
Lincolnshire/Lake Forest, IL 60045 
 
 
Mike Capstick 
8/20/18 
 
Good Morning Tonya, 
 
We would sincerely appreciate it if you and the Village Board would kindly allow the new Lincolnshire 
Culver's to illuminate the restaurant's internally-lit exterior signs, instead of requiring them to illuminate 
their exterior signs with exterior can lights, which makes the restaurant appear to be closed and less safe 
during the evening hours. 
 
Upon looking into this matter further, we discovered that the competing restaurants across Milwaukee 
Avenue, such as McDonald's and Bonta, are currently allowed to use their internally-lit exterior 
signage.  Accordingly, enabling Culver's to also do so makes perfect sense, instead of having Culver's 
operate at a competitive disadvantage, as they are unfortunately currently doing. 
 
Lastly, having a well-lit Culver's in Lincolnshire will result in a safer and more "vibrant" environment for 
our great town! 
 
Thank you for hopefully allowing Culver's to use their internally-lit exterior signage, as soon 
as possible, we sincerely appreciate it! 
 
Thank you, 
 



Mike Capstick 
7 Mayfair Ln 
Lincolnshire, IL  60069 
 
 
Beth Hanna 
8/2018 
 
Dear Ms Zozulya, 
 
I am writing on behalf of our new business neighbor, Culvers of Lincolnshire.   I was 
unaware that up to this point,  this location has only been allowed to illuminate their 
signature signage by canned lights.  Although I appreciate the consideration of "light 
pollution" by our village, I believe this particular case warrants an exception. 
 
My 17 year old son and his friends regularly purchase at Culvers, especially after 
basketball practice at SHS and working out at Lifetime.   Although Lincolnshire is an 
extremely safe place to live and work, I worry about Culvers appearing to be "closed" or 
in the process of "closing" when our village teens are on site.  One never knows who 
might be driving by looking for an opportunity for criminal behavior.  Also, many young 
people work at this location.  I don't like the idea of any of them walking to their cars 
from a building that looks like it's closed or closing. 
 
The bottom line is that I believe having a vibrantly lit late evening fast food 
establishment off a busy street like Milwaukee is about safety, and strongly encourage 
you to reconsider your ordinance in this case. 
 
Sincerely, 
Beth Hanna 
35 Lancaster Lane 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 
 
Dwight and Robin Ekenberg 
8/20/18 
 
Good Morning Tonya, 
 
I hope you had a great weekend!  My wife, Robin, and I have lived in Lincolnshire for the past 30 years. 
 
We would sincerely appreciate it if you and the Village Board would kindly allow the new Lincolnshire 
Culver's to illuminate the restaurant's internally-lit exterior signs, instead of requiring them to illuminate 
their exterior signs with exterior can lights, which makes the restaurant appear to be closed and less safe 
during the evening hours. 
 
Upon looking into this matter further, we discovered that the competing restaurants across Milwaukee 
Avenue, such as McDonald's and Bonta, are currently allowed to use their internally-lit exterior 
signage.  Accordingly, enabling Culver's to also do so makes perfect sense, instead of having Culver's 
operate at a competitive disadvantage, as they are unfortunately currently doing. 
 



Lastly, having a well lit Culver's in Lincolnshire will result in a safer and more "vibrant" environment for 
our great town! 
 
Thank you for hopefully allowing Culver's to use their internally-lit exterior signage, as soon 
as possible, we sincerely appreciate it! 
 
All the Best, 
 
Dwight and Robin Ekenberg 
8 Buckingham Place 
Lincolnshire, IL  60069 
 
 
 



 

Village of Lincolnshire  Title 12: Sign Control 
Revised 03/13/2017   Page 4 
 
 
 

than five (5) feet above the windows on the top floor and no portion of such wall sign shall 
extend above the roof line. 

 
8. Wall signs may be constructed of wood, metal or plastic. 
 
9.  Internally illuminated wall signs shall only consist of backlit/halo illumination and be 

designed so light does not filter through the face of individually cut letter sets. In the 
Corridor Commercial and Office/Industrial Sign Districts, internal illumination where light 
is filtered through the face of individual letter sets is permitted under the following 
conditions: a) the majority of gross floor area must be devoted to office use; b) the wall 
sign shall only identify the office occupant; c) the building height must be a minimum of 
forty (40) feet; and d) the wall sign shall be mounted a minimum of thirty-five (35) feet 
above grade. Gooseneck reflectors are permitted on all wall signs provided the reflectors 
concentrate the illumination upon the sign face only. 

 
10. In no case shall any side wall or rear wall sign be permitted to contain any form of 

illumination if said wall is adjacent to a residential district. 
 

11. On multi-tenant commercial buildings, all wall signs must be located at a generally 
uniform height on the building wall in similar proportion to one another. Wall signs 
identifying individual tenant spaces in multi-tenant structures shall be centered within 
each leaseable space unless otherwise approved by the Department of Community and 
Economic Development. Signs within a multi-tenant commercial development must be of 
a natural or white finish, however a logo or mark registered with the United States Patent 
and Trademark Office shall not be limited by color. Where a single principal building is 
devoted to two (2) or more business or commercial uses, the operator of each such use 
may install a wall sign. The maximum area of each such sign shall be determined by the 
proportionate share of the front façade, including doors and windows, of the principal 
building occupied by each such use and applying such proportion to the total sign area 
permitted for the front wall of the building. 

 
12. On multi-tenant office buildings, one wall sign shall be permitted per building frontage, 

provided signs have a minimum separation from the common edge of each building 
frontage equal to ten feet (10’) or one third (1/3) of the length of the respective frontage, 
whichever is lesser.  
 

13. On multi-tenant industrial buildings, individual tenant wall signs shall be permitted only for 
those tenant spaces that have individual entrances facing a public street or a parking lot. 
Such signs must be located over or next to a corresponding entrance at a uniform height 
on the building wall in similar proportion to one another. Regardless of whether the first 
wall sign in any multi-tenant building is installed over the entry or next to the entry, that 
same placement type shall be required for any additional signs in the same building. The 
maximum area of each such sign shall be determined by the proportionate share of the 
front façade, including doors and windows of the principal building occupied by each 
tenant space and applying such proportion to the total sign area permitted for the front 
wall of the building. Any two adjoining wall signs placed next to entrances shall be 
located no closer than 1 foot (1’) from each other. Any two adjoining wall signs placed 
above entrances shall be located no closer than 5 feet (5’) from each other. 

  
14. Within a single-tenant commercial development, signs utilizing carved, etched, or raised 

letters are not limited by color. Metal letters and logos shall have a non-reflective metal 
surface. 

 
15. Wall signs shall be attached to a building façade at a height of not less than eight (8) feet 

Document 3



Agenda Item
3.3.21 COW

v:\shared_files\cover_sheet\2018\2018_08_27_investment_services.docx

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole Meeting

August 27, 2018

Subject: Investment Advisory and Custodian Account Agreements

Action 
Requested:

Consideration of Investment Advisory Agreement and
Custodian Account Agreement

Originated 
By/Contact:

Michael Peterson, Finance Director/ Treasurer

Referred To: Mayor and Village Board of Trustees

Summary/ Background:
The goals of this type of relationship is to assist staff in managing the Village’s 
investment activities consistent with the primary policy objectives of maintaining safety 
of principal and liquidity, while maximizing investment returns. To prepare for 
implementation of this agreement, the Village’s cash reserves have been invested in 
money market accounts (Bank Financial, MB Financial Bank) and a local government 
investment pool (IMET) to ease the implementation process.

Staff interviewed and reviewed three investment advisory service providers. Of the 3
firms, Sawyer Falduto Asset Management LLC (“Sawyer Falduto”) proposed the lowest 
annual fees of 10 basis points (0.10%). As of June 2018, Sawyer Falduto has $2.8
billion under management amongst 141 Illinois Police and Fire Pension Funds and 12 
municipalities. Sawyer Falduto retains Charles Schwab as a custodian and 
compensates them directly. References for the firm were found to be in good standing. 

Under the fee arrangement with Sawyer Falduto, the account management fee will be 
based on the total value of the portfolio and there will be no additional charges built into 
each investment transaction. The fees associated with each transaction will be covered 
under our management fee. The fee will be billed on a quarterly basis at an annual rate 
of 10 basis points or 0.1%. Based on a $2 million portfolio our annual fee would be 
$2,000 ($500 per quarter).

Budget Impact:
Increase to interest income

Recommendation:
Staff recommends the approval of the proposed agreement with Sawyer Falduto Asset 
Management, LLC for investment advisory services and Charles Schwab for custodian
account services.



Agenda Item
3.3.21 COW

v:\shared_files\cover_sheet\2018\2018_08_27_investment_services.docx

Reports and Documents Attached:
Investment Advisory Agreement
Custodian Account Agreement

Meeting History
Special Committee of the Whole 
Budget Meeting

08/27/2018

Regular Village Board Meeting: 09/10/2018



Municipality - Investment Management Only – Village of Lincolnshire – 8/23/2018

Account Number _____________________

I N V E S T M E N T  A D V I S O R Y  A G R E E M E N T

AGREEMENT, made this                    day of                                           , 20           between the undersigned party, the Trustees of 
the  Village of Lincolnshire, whose mailing address is ____________________________________________________________                                 
(hereinafter referred to as the “CLIENT”), and SAWYER FALDUTO ASSET MANAGEMENT, LLC, a registered investment adviser, 
whose principal mailing address is at 589 South York Street, Elmhurst, Illinois 60126  (hereinafter referred to as the “ADVISER”).

1. Scope of Engagement
(a) CLIENT hereby appoints ADVISER as an Investment Adviser to perform the services hereinafter described, and 

ADVISER accepts such appointment.  ADVISER shall be responsible for the investment and reinvestment of those 
assets designated by CLIENT to be subject to ADVISER’s management (which assets, together with all additions, 
substitutions and/or alterations thereto are hereinafter referred to as the “Assets” or “Account”); 

(b) CLIENT delegates to ADVISER all of its powers with regard to the investment and reinvestment of the Assets and 
appoints ADVISER as CLIENT’s investment officer with full authority to buy, sell, or otherwise effect investment 
transactions involving the Assets in CLIENT’s name for the Account;

(c) ADVISER is authorized, without prior consultation with CLIENT, to buy, sell, trade and allocate in and among 
Authorized Investments (as defined below), and to give instructions in furtherance of such authority to the registered 
broker-dealer and the custodian of the Assets;

(d) ADVISER will invest according to the guidelines published in the Public Funds Investment Act, 30 ILCS 245/1, et seq., 
and the Village of Lincolnshire Investment Policy (the “Investment Policy”) adopted by the CLIENT on ___________
_______________________ (collectively, the “Authorized Investments”). 

(e) ADVISER shall discharge its investment management responsibilities consistent with the CLIENT’s designated 
investment objectives, as described in the Investment Policy. As such, the CLIENT agrees to provide information and/or 
documentation requested by ADVISER in furtherance of this Agreement as pertains to CLIENT’s objectives, needs and 
goals, and maintains exclusive responsibility to keep ADVISER informed of any changes regarding same.  CLIENT
acknowledges that ADVISER cannot adequately perform its services for CLIENT unless CLIENT diligently performs 
its responsibilities under this Agreement. ADVISER shall not be required to verify any information obtained from 
CLIENT’s duly authorized Investment Officer, and is expressly authorized to rely thereon;

(f) CLIENT authorizes ADVISER to respond to inquiries from, and communicate and share information with, CLIENT’s
attorney, accountant, and other professionals to the extent necessary in furtherance of ADVISER’s services under this 
Agreement; and,

(g) The CLIENT acknowledges and understands that the services to be provided by ADVISER under this Agreement are 
limited to the management of the Assets and do not include financial planning or any other related or unrelated 
consulting services.   

(h) Nothing in this Agreement is intended to constitute the ADVISER is a trustee, and the ADVISER shall not have the 
liabilities or responsibilities of a trustee.  ADVISER is registered as an investment advisor under the Advisers Act of 
1940. ADVISER acknowledges that it is a “fiduciary” within the meaning of applicable law with respect to such assets 
of the CLIENT as may be placed under its management pursuant to this Agreement.  The ADVISER has read and agrees 
to be bound by the CLIENT’s Investment Policy, which the CLIENT has provided / will provide to the ADVISER.

2. Adviser Compensation
(a) The ADVISER’s annual fee for investment management services provided under this Agreement shall be based upon a 

percentage (%) of the market value of the Assets under management in accordance with the fee schedule enclosed 
herewith as Exhibit “A”.  This annual fee shall be prorated and paid quarterly, in arrears, based upon the market value of 
the Assets on the last business day of the previous quarter.   No increase in the annual fee percentage shall be effective 
without prior written notification to the CLIENT;

(b) CLIENT authorizes the Custodian of the Assets to charge the Account for the amount of ADVISER’s fee and to remit 
such fee to ADVISER in compliance with regulatory procedures;

       



Municipality - Investment Management Only – Village of Lincolnshire – 8/23/2018

(c) In addition to ADVISER’s annual investment management fee, the CLIENT shall also incur, relative to all mutual fund 
and exchange traded fund purchases, charges imposed directly at the fund level (e.g. management fees and other fund 
expenses);and,

(d) No portion of Adviser Compensation shall be based on capital gains or capital appreciation of the Assets except as 
provided for under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.

(e) ADVISER shall furnish, at its own expense, all necessary administrative services, office space, equipment, clerical 
personnel, telephone and other communication facilities, investment advisor facilities, and executive and supervisory 
personnel for managing investments.

3.    Custodian
The Assets shall be held by an independent custodian (the “Custodian”), not ADVISER. Subject to compliance with the 
remainder of this Agreement, ADVISER is authorized to give instructions to the Custodian with respect to all investment 
decisions regarding the Assets and, subject to contrary direction from the Investment Officer, the Custodian is hereby 
authorized and directed to effect transactions, deliver securities, and otherwise take such actions as ADVISER shall direct in 
connection with the performance of ADVISER’s obligations in respect of the Assets.

4. Account Transactions
(a) Unless otherwise provided in the Wrap Fee Brochure and/or permitted by the ADVISER, all transactions for the 

Account shall be effected through a registered broker-dealer and/or an entity exempt from such registration; 

(b) Commissions and/or transaction fees are generally charged for effecting Account transactions; and 

(c) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Statement and/or the Wrap Fee Brochure, Account transaction fees and/or 
commissions are inclusive of the ADVISER’s annual fee as defined in paragraph 2 hereof.

5. Risk Acknowledgment
ADVISER does not guarantee the future performance of the Account or any specific level of performance, the success of any 
investment recommendation or strategy that ADVISER may take or recommend for the Account, or the success of 
ADVISER’s overall management of the Account. CLIENT understands that investment recommendations for the Account
by ADVISER are subject to various market, currency, economic, political and business risks, and that those investment 
decisions will not always be profitable.

6. Directions to the Adviser
All directions, instructions and/or notices from the CLIENT’s Investment Officer to ADVISER shall be in writing (email 
notice will suffice), including notification of a change in CLIENT’s Investment Policy. ADVISER shall rely upon any 
direction, notice, or instruction from the Investment Officer until it has been duly advised in writing of changes therein.

7. Adviser Liability
ADVISER shall, at all times, consistent with ADVISER’s status as an Investment Adviser, provide services to the CLIENT with
the care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and
familiar with such matters would use, and to the extent the ADVISER provides advisory services consistent with the foregoing 
standard of care, shall not be liable for any action, omission, investment recommendation/decision, or loss in connection with this 
Agreement including, but not limited to, the investment of the Assets, or the acts and/or omissions of other professionals or third 
party service providers recommended to the CLIENT by the ADVISER, including a broker-dealer and/or custodian. The 
ADVISER shall be liable to CLIENT for any violation of applicable law or breach of any of the material terms of this Agreement.  
If the Account contains only a portion of the CLIENT’s total assets, ADVISER shall only be responsible for those assets that the 
CLIENT has designated to be the subject of the ADVISER’s investment management services under this Agreement without 
consideration to those additional assets not so designated by the CLIENT.

If, during the term of this Agreement, the ADVISER purchases specific individual securities for the Account at the direction of 
the CLIENT (i.e. the request to purchase was initiated solely by the CLIENT), the CLIENT acknowledges that the ADVISER 
shall do so as an accommodation only, and that the CLIENT shall maintain exclusive ongoing responsibility for monitoring any 
and all such individual securities, and the disposition thereof. Correspondingly, the CLIENT further acknowledges and agrees 
that the ADVISER shall not have any responsibility for the performance of any and all such securities, regardless of whether 
any such security is reflected on any quarterly Account reports prepared by ADVISER.

The CLIENT acknowledges that investments have varying degrees of financial risk, and that ADVISER shall not be 
responsible for any adverse financial consequences to the Account resulting from any investment that, at the time made, was 
consistent with the CLIENT’s Investment Policy.



Municipality - Investment Management Only – Village of Lincolnshire – 8/23/2018

The CLIENT further acknowledges and agrees that ADVISER shall not bear any responsibility whatsoever for any adverse 
financial consequences occurring during the Account transition process (i.e., the transfer of the Assets from the CLIENT’s
predecessor advisers/custodians to the Accounts to be managed by the ADVISER) resulting from: (1) securities purchased by 
CLIENT’s predecessor adviser(s); and, (2) the sale by ADVISER of securities purchased by the CLIENT’s predecessor 
adviser(s) subsequent to completion of the Account transition process.

The federal and state securities laws impose liabilities under certain circumstances on persons who act in good faith, and 
therefore nothing herein shall in any way constitute a waiver or limitation of any rights which the CLIENT may have under 
any federal or state securities laws.

During the entire period of this Agreement, ADVISER will maintain in place an insurance policy or policies in companies 
with a Best’s rating of “A-“, which will provide for D&O and E&O insurance coverage for the acts of ADVISER, including 
those performed for the CLIENT under this Agreement. The amount of such insurance shall not be less than $2 million per 
occurrence, or in the aggregate. Upon request, the ADVISER shall provide to the CLIENT certificates indicating that such 
insurance is in full force and effect and will not be cancelled or reduced in type or amount without written notice of at least ten 
(10) days being provided to the CLIENT.

8. Proxies
The ADVISER shall be responsible for:  (1) directing the manner in which proxies solicited by issuers of securities beneficially 
owned by CLIENT shall be voted, and (2) making all elections relative to any mergers, acquisitions, tender offers, bankruptcy 
proceedings or other type events pertaining to the Assets. The CLIENT and/or the ADVISER shall correspondingly instruct 
each custodian of the assets to forward to the ADVISER copies of all proxies and shareholder communications relating to the 
Assets.

9. Reports
ADVISER and/or Account custodian shall provide CLIENT with reports at least quarterly for the Account.  In the event 
that the ADVISER provides supplemental Account reports which include assets for which the ADVISER does not have 
discretionary investment management authority, the CLIENT acknowledges the reporting is provided as an accommodation 
only, and does not include investment management, review, or monitoring services, nor investment recommendations or 
advice.  As such, the CLIENT, and not the ADVISER shall be exclusively responsible for the investment performance of 
any such assets or accounts.  In the event the CLIENT desires that the ADVISER provide investment management services 
with respect to any such assets or accounts, the CLIENT may engage the ADVISER to do so for a separate and additional 
fee consistent with the fee schedule attached hereto.

10. Termination
This Agreement will continue in effect until terminated by either party by written notice to the other (email notice will not 
suffice), which written notice must be signed by the terminating party.  Termination of this Agreement will not affect (i) the 
validity of any action previously taken by ADVISER under this Agreement; (ii) liabilities or obligations of the parties from 
transactions initiated before termination of this Agreement; or (iii) CLIENT’s obligation to pay advisory fees (prorated 
through the date of termination).  Upon the termination of this Agreement, ADVISER will have no obligation to recommend 
or take any action with regard to the securities, cash or other investments in the Account.

11. Assignment
This Agreement may not be assigned (within the meaning of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940) by either CLIENT or
ADVISER without the prior consent of the other party.  CLIENT acknowledges and agrees that transactions that do not result 
in a change of actual control or management of ADVISER shall not be considered an assignment pursuant to Rule 202(a)(1)-1
under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940. Should there be a change in control of the ADVISER resulting in an assignment of 
this Agreement (as that term is defined under the Advisers Act), the successor adviser will notify the CLIENT and will 
continue to provide the services previously provided to the CLIENT by the ADVISER. If the CLIENT continues to accept 
such services provided by the Successor without written objection during the 60 day period subsequent to receipt of the written 
notice from the Successor, the Successor will assume that the client has consented to the assignment and the Successor will 
become the adviser to the client under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

12. Non-Exclusive Management
ADVISER, its officers, employees, and agents, may have or take the same or similar positions in specific investments for their 
own accounts, or for the accounts of other clients, as the ADVISER does for the Assets. CLIENT expressly acknowledges 
and understands that ADVISER shall be free to render investment advice to others and that ADVISER does not make its 
investment management services available exclusively to CLIENT.  Nothing in this Agreement shall impose upon ADVISER
any obligation to purchase or sell, or to recommend for purchase or sale, for the Account any security which ADVISER, its 
principals, affiliates or employees, may purchase or sell for their own accounts or for the account of any other client, if in the 
reasonable opinion of ADVISER such investment would be unsuitable for the Account or if ADVISER determines in the best 
interest of the Account it would be impractical or undesirable. In the event ADVISOR receives compensation of any kind, 



Municipality - Investment Management Only – Village of Lincolnshire – 8/23/2018

nature or amount from any other party as a result of any investment it makes for the Assets in the Account, ADVISOR shall 
provide written notice (e-mail notice shall suffice) to CLIENT of such compensation. Without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, an example of such compensation would be an underwriters fee for the placement of municipal securities which are 
Authorized Investments.

13. Mediation
If any disagreement, dispute, claim or controversy (“Dispute”) arises with regard to the interpretation of this Agreement, then 
the procedures and restrictions set forth below will be used in an attempt to resolve any Dispute prior to the filing of any legal 
action: 

The parties agree that they shall submit all Disputes to non-binding mediation in Lake County, Illinois.

a) Either party may, when a Dispute arises, serve upon the other party a written demand for mediation.
b) Promptly upon receipt of that demand for mediation, the parties shall take the necessary steps and pay the required 

fees to have the Dispute mediated as soon as practicable by an independent professional mediator acceptable to 
both parties.

c) If the parties are unable to agree upon and select a mediator within ten (10) days after the delivery of the notice of 
demand for mediation, then the parties agree to proceed with mediation before the American Arbitration 
Association (“AAA”) and the selection of the mediator shall be in accordance with the procedures and rules of the 
AAA.

d) The parties agree to in good faith exercise their best efforts to convene at least one formal mediation session within 
thirty (30) days after the selection of the mediator.

e) The mediation will be regarded as settlement negotiations and, therefore, any and all statements or communications 
made by and/or between the parties during the course of the mediation shall not be referenced, relied upon or 
sought to be introduced into evidence in connection with any subsequent proceeding.

f) The parties shall share equally the fees and expenses charged by the mediator and/or the AAA.
g) Each party will bear all of its other costs in connection with the mediation, including, but not limited to, attorney’s 

fees.

14. Disclosure Statement
CLIENT hereby acknowledges prior receipt of a copy of the Disclosure Statement of the ADVISER as same is set forth on 
Part II of Form ADV (Uniform Application for Investment Adviser Registration). CLIENT further acknowledges that 
CLIENT has had a reasonable opportunity (i.e. at least 48 hours) to review said Disclosure Statement, and to discuss the 
contents of same with professionals of its choosing, prior to the execution of this Agreement. If CLIENT has not received a 
copy of ADVISER’s Disclosure Statement at least 48 hours prior to execution of this Agreement, CLIENT shall have 5 
business days from the date of execution of this Agreement to terminate ADVISER’s services without penalty. 

15. Severability
Any term or provision of this Agreement which is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be 
ineffective to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability without rendering invalid or unenforceable the remaining terms 
or provisions of this Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement
in any other jurisdiction.

16. Client Conflicts
This agreement is between a multi-member Board of Trustees (hereinafter referred to as the “Trustees”) and the Adviser. 
ADVISER’s services shall be based upon the Investment Officer’s direction communicated to the ADVISER. ADVISER shall 
be permitted to rely upon instructions from the Investment Officer with respect to the Assets, unless and until such reliance is 
revoked in writing to ADVISER. ADVISER shall not be responsible for any claims or damages resulting from such reliance.

17. Privacy Notice
CLIENT acknowledges prior receipt of ADVISER’s Privacy Notice.

18.     Entire Agreement
This Agreement supersedes and replaces, in its entirety, all previous investment advisory agreement(s) between the parties.  

19.  Amendments
This Agreement may be amended upon the mutual written consent of the ADVISER and CLIENT.  

20. Applicable Law/Venue
To the extent not inconsistent with applicable law, this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Illinois.  In addition, to the extent not inconsistent with applicable law, the venue (i.e. location) for the 
resolution of any dispute or controversy between ADVISER and CLIENT shall be the County of Lake, State of Illinois.



Municipality - Investment Management Only – Village of Lincolnshire – 8/23/2018

21.     Authority
CLIENT acknowledges that it has all requisite legal authority to execute this Agreement, and that there are no encumbrances 
on the Assets. CLIENT correspondingly agrees to immediately notify ADVISER, in writing, in the event that either of these 
representations should change.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, CLIENT and ADVISER have each executed this Agreement on the day, month and year first 
above written.

CLIENT: The Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire

By its:

President: ___________________________________________

Secretary: ___________________________________________

                                                                    

ADVISER: Sawyer Falduto Asset Management, LLC 

          By its: 

Managing Partner:  ____________________________________
                 



Municipality - Investment Management Only – Village of Lincolnshire – 8/23/2018

Exhibit A:
Fee Schedule

PUBLIC FUND RELATIONSHIPS

Base Annual Fee                                                    $0

Market Value of Assets Fee                                          0.10% (10 basis points)

Minimum Annual Fee                                                                    Waived

FEE RATE GUARANTEE

Sawyer Falduto Asset Management, LLC guarantees the above-referenced fee schedule through January 1, 2029.

ACKNOWLEDGED BY

_________________________________________ ________________________________________
Client Sawyer Falduto Asset Management, LLC



Account Agreement Addendum 
Account Application Agreement for Non-

Incorporated Organizations

©2013 Charles Schwab & Co. Inc. (“Schwab”), Member: SIPC. All rights reserved.   Schwab Advisor Services is a business segment of The 
Charles Schwab Corporation serving independent investment advisors, which includes the custody, trading and support services of Charles 
Schwab & Co., Inc. Accepted on Accounts linked to Advisor Sawyer Falduto Asset Management LLC Master 0815-1945 only. AS BAT # 
39673. Page 1 of 3. 

This Account Agreement Addendum (“Addendum”) is entered into this _______ day of 
______________________, 201 , between Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (“Schwab”) and 
______________________________________________________________________________
(“Client”).  Client has agreed to execute and be subject to the terms of the Schwab One Account 
Application Agreement for Non-Incorporated Organizations (the “Agreement”) signed by Client 
on _________, 20 .  This Addendum supplements and amends provisions of the Agreement in 
the manner set forth below: 

Schwab One Account Application Agreement, page 2 of 4, left column is replaced 
with the following: 

In accordance with Section 8 of Brokerage services in the Schwab One Account 
Agreement, you agree that all debts and other obligations owed to Schwab by  the 
Organization any party to the Account Agreement will be secured by a lien on all 
Securities and Other Property now or hereafter held, carried or maintained in the 
Organization’s any of your present or future non-retirement brokerage accounts 
with Schwab., whether individually or jointly held with others, or in any non-
retirement brokerage account at Schwab in which you have an interest.

Arbitration Agreement, page 3 of 4, left column sub (2) is replaced with the 
following:

(2) Entering into this Agreement constitutes consent to submit to the personal
jurisdiction of the courts of the state of California, Illinois, U.S.A., to
interpret or enforce any or all of these arbitration provisions. Judgment on
any arbitration award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction, or
application may be made to such court for judicial acceptance of the award
and an order of enforcement, as the case may be.

Verification, page 4 of 4, right column is replaced with the following: 

 You authorize Schwab to inquire from any source, including a 
consumer reporting agency, as to your identity (as required by federal law), 
creditworthiness and ongoing eligibility for the Account (and that of your spouse, 
if you live in a community property state) at account opening, at any time 
throughout the life of the Account, and thereafter for debt collection or 
investigative purposes. 

In lieu of the provisions in the Schwab One Account Application Agreement, page 2 of 4, left 
column, Owner(s), Partner(s), Member(s), Manager(s), Officer(s), and Authorized Agent(s) 
jointly and severally, in both personal and representative capacities, do hereby release Schwab 
and its affiliates, officers, directors, employees and agents from any and all claims, judgments, 
surcharges, settlements or other liabilities or costs of defense of settlement (including 
investigative and attorney’s fees) which may arise from (i) Schwab’s reliance on or acceptance 



Account Agreement Addendum 
Account Application Agreement for Non-

Incorporated Organizations

©2013 Charles Schwab & Co. Inc. (“Schwab”), Member: SIPC. All rights reserved.   Schwab Advisor Services is a business segment of The 
Charles Schwab Corporation serving independent investment advisors, which includes the custody, trading and support services of Charles 
Schwab & Co., Inc. Accepted on Accounts linked to Advisor Sawyer Falduto Asset Management LLC Master 0815-1945 only. AS BAT # 
39673. Page 2 of 3. 

of instructions, directions, or orders, whether oral, electronic or written, in any form whatsoever, 
from any Authorized Individual identified in the Application; (ii) any and all activity or actions 
of Client at Schwab, and (iii) any dispute as between or among Client, its Manager(s), its 
Member(s) in any capacity, and/or any beneficiary or owner of interest in its Member(s). 

Terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same respective meanings as in the 
Agreement, and except as expressly supplemented and amended above, the terms of the 
Agreement shall remain in effect as stated therein.  This Addendum shall be effective on the date 
last signed below.  Any change or addition of Owner(s), Partner(s), Member(s), Manager(s), 
Officer(s), and Authorized Agent(s) would require an update to this Addendum.  

These amendments to the Agreement are being made available to you as a courtesy due to your 
relationship with Sawyer Falduto Asset Management, LLC.  In the event Client’s account(s) are 
delinked from Sawyer Falduto Asset Management, LLC for any reason, Client agrees these 
amendments will no longer be valid or enforceable.  All parties agree that Schwab retains the 
right, upon ten days written notice, to unilaterally rescind the terms and conditions of this 
Addendum. 

Date:__________________  ________________________________________________ 

Name: __________________________________________  
Owner, Partner, Member, Manager, Officer or Authorized 
Agent

State of _____________________ 
County of ___________________ 

On ________________________________________________, 201 , before me, 
_____________________________________(here insert name and title of the notarizing 
officer), personally appeared ________________________________________ who proved to 
me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to 
the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in 
his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the 
person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal 

____________________________________________
Signature and Seal of Notary 
___________________
Expiration date 



Account Agreement Addendum 
Account Application Agreement for Non-

Incorporated Organizations

©2013 Charles Schwab & Co. Inc. (“Schwab”), Member: SIPC. All rights reserved.   Schwab Advisor Services is a business segment of The 
Charles Schwab Corporation serving independent investment advisors, which includes the custody, trading and support services of Charles 
Schwab & Co., Inc. Accepted on Accounts linked to Advisor Sawyer Falduto Asset Management LLC Master 0815-1945 only. AS BAT # 
39673. Page 3 of 3. 

Date:__________________  ________________________________________________ 

Name: __________________________________________  
Owner, Partner, Member, Manager, Officer or Authorized 
Agent

State of _____________________ 
County of ___________________ 

On ________________________________________________, 201 , before me, 
_____________________________________(here insert name and title of the notarizing 
officer), personally appeared ________________________________________ who proved to 
me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are subscribed to 
the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in 
his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the 
person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal 

____________________________________________
Signature and Seal of Notary 
___________________
Expiration date 



Agenda Item
3.3.22 COW

v:\shared_files\cover_sheet\2018\2018_08_27_cow_dissolution_traffic signal_ssa_fund_ord.docx

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole Meeting

August 27, 2018

Subject: Consideration of Approval of Ordinance Dissolving the Village 
of Lincolnshire Westminster Way Transportation Special 
Service Area Fund

Action 
Requested:

Consideration of an Ordinance Dissolving the Village of 
Lincolnshire “Fund 21” (Westminster Way Transportation 
Special Service Area 1)(Village of Lincolnshire)

Originated 
By/Contact:

Michael Peterson, Finance Director/ Treasurer
Brad Burke, Village Manager

Referred To: Mayor and Village Board of Trustees

Summary / Background:
During the 2018 Budget workshops, Finance reported the remaining Special Service 
Area (SSA) property tax funds on hand would be depleted by fiscal year end.

The attached ordinance effectively eliminates the SSA Fund at the close of Fiscal Year 
2018. Staff recommends dissolving the fund in the current fiscal year to provide ease 
and clarity in the annual audit process.  Additionally, taking action at this time permits 
the Fiscal Year 2019 Budget to reflect the elimination of the fund pursuant to Village 
Board direction.

The attached ordinance reflects action to officially dissolve the Westminster Way SSA 
Fund (Fund 21) and formally terminates the Westminster Way Transportation Special 
Service Area Number 1. This will eliminate any future tax extensions for the SSA or the 
need to abate taxes for the SSA in the future.

Budget Impact:
Ongoing traffic signal maintenance expenditures for Half Day Road & Westminster Way
will be paid from the General Fund/ Street Dept./ Contract Service - Signal Maintenance
(01-21-61-9066) line item. Estimated annual cost is expected to be $4,680.

Recommendation:
Staff recommends approval of the proposed ordinance dissolving the Westminster Way 
Transportation Special Service Area Fund and placing it on the September 10, 2018 
Consent Agenda.

Reports and Documents Attached:
Ordinance Dissolving the Village of Lincolnshire “Fund 21” (Westminster Way 
Transportation Special Service Area Fund)



Agenda Item
3.3.22 COW

v:\shared_files\cover_sheet\2018\2018_08_27_cow_dissolution_traffic signal_ssa_fund_ord.docx

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole Meeting 08/27/2018
Regular Village Board Meeting: 09/10/2018



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS

ORDINANCE 18-3xxx-xxx

AN ORDINANCE DISSOLVING THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE “FUND 21”
(WESTMINSTER WAY TRANSPORTATION SPECIAL SERVICE AREA 1)

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire is an Illinois home rule municipal 
corporation operating under the Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois; and

WHEREAS, by the adoption of Ordinance 11-3213-35 the Village heretofore 
established the “Westminster Way Transportation Area Special Service Area 1 Fund,”
(Fund 21) during the 2011 Fiscal Year, to which the Village has deposited the proceeds
($18,395) of the ad valorem property taxes levied for the initial construction and annual 
maintenance of a traffic control signal system located at the intersection of Route 22
and Westminster Way; and

WHEREAS, the construction expenses; the largest component of the initial costs, 
were not borne by the Fund and instead were borne by the State of Illinois Department 
of Transportation; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire has abated all ad valorem property taxes 
related to the intersection since 2013 because the Fund had sufficient money to cover 
the annual maintenance of the traffic control signal system through 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the Village shall hereafter include the traffic signal maintenance 
charges within the Village’s Street Department budget and appropriation; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED By the Mayor and Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Lincolnshire, in exercise of its home rule powers, as follows:

SECTION 1.  Findings.  The Mayor and Board of Trustees find the foregoing recitals are 
complete and accurate and hereby incorporate them as though fully set forth herein as 
the purpose and justification for dissolving the Westminster Way Transportation Area 
SSA 1A Fund.

SECTION 2.  Westminster Way Transportation Area SSA 1 Fund.

A. That on or before December 31, 2018, Fund 21, entitled the “Westminster 
Way Transportation Area Special Service Area 1 Fund,” (Fund 21) shall be and is 
hereby dissolved with no remaining balances.  The County Clerk shall terminate the 
Westminster Way Transportation Special Service Area Number 1 and no longer extend 
any taxes therefor.

B. That the Finance Director is hereby authorized and directed to execute the 



above stated changes.

SECTION 3.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance is held 
invalid, the invalidity of such section, paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any 
of the other provisions of this Ordinance.

SECTION 4.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage and 
approval.

SO ORDAINED this _____ Day of _______________, 2018, at Lincolnshire, Illinois.

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

APPROVED:

_____________________________
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor

ATTEST: Date: ________________________

____________________________
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk



Agenda Item
3.3.23 COW

v:\shared_files\cover_sheet\2018\2018_08_27_cow_utility_tax_audit_services.docx

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole Meeting

August 27, 2018

Subject: Azavar Government Solutions Agreement

Action 
Requested:

Consideration of Approval and Authorization to enter into Utility 
Tax Audit Service Agreement

Originated 
By/Contact:

Michael Peterson, Finance Director/ Treasurer

Referred To: Mayor and Village Board of Trustees

Summary:
Staff has selected Azavar Government Solutions to provide utility tax audit services in 
exchange for a 40% contingency based fee over a three year period. Scope of services 
includes audits and review of revenues and expenditures related to electricity, natural 
gas, telecommunications, and hotel taxes to name a few. Azavar will perform the labor-
intensive process to discover and recover lost revenue, as well as, savings to the 
Village from utility over charges.

Background:
During the 2016 and 2017 Budget workshops; the Village Board directed staff to 
research revenue enhancement in response to the loss of sales tax related to the 
relocation of a few key businesses.

Since October 2017, the Village along with six other communities (Grayslake, Highland 
Park, Libertyville, Mundelein, Round Lake Beach, and Waukegan) have jointly
interviewed two utility tax audit service companies (Azavar Government Solutions and 
Avenu). A third company, AmAudit failed to respond.

Over the last several months, project implementation was delayed due to timing 
challenges and various priorities amongst the communities. This project has gained 
momentum this past month; and we completed negotiations related to terms and 
conditions.  After satisfying various attorney inquiries, Lincolnshire has selected Azavar 
Government Solutions as the preferred provider for utility tax audit services.  

Budget Impact:
Potential increase to various tax revenue.
Potential utility expenditures reduction.

Recommendation:
Consideration and Discussion of placing the Agreement on the Consent Agenda for 
Approval at the September 10, 2018 Regular Village Board meeting.



Agenda Item
3.3.23 COW

v:\shared_files\cover_sheet\2018\2018_08_27_cow_utility_tax_audit_services.docx

Reports and Documents Attached:
Agreement
Municipal Revenue Review

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole Meeting 08/27/2018
Regular Village Board Meeting: 09/10/2018



PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by and 
between Azavar Audit Solutions, Incorporated, an Illinois corporation having its principal place 
of business at 55 East Jackson Boulevard, Suite 2100, Chicago, Illinois 60604 (“Azavar”), and 
the Village of Lincolnshire, an Illinois municipal corporation, having its principal place of 
business at One Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, IL 60069 (“Customer”).

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES

1.1. Subject to the following terms and conditions, Azavar shall provide professional 
data audit and compliance management services (“Services”) in accordance with the below 
statement of work. Azavar will render the services provided under this Agreement in a 
workmanlike manner in accordance with industry standards. The services and work provided 
shall be provided in substantial accordance with the below statements:

a) Azavar shall undertake a Municipal Audit Program (“Statement of 
Work”) on behalf of the Customer. As part of the Municipal Audit Program Azavar shall, on 
behalf of the Customer, separately review and/or audit each existing tax, fee, ordinance, 
contract, franchise agreement, and expense (collectively, the “Revenue Sources”) imposed 
by or upon the Customer within the Customer’s corporate boundaries (“Audit(s)”). The 
Municipal Audit Program includes Audits and reviews of revenues and expenditures related 
to the following Revenue Sources:

i. Electricity providers and/or consumers
ii. Natural gas and Natural Gas Use Tax providers and/or consumers
iii. Multichannel video (i.e. cable) franchise fees and service fees 

and/or consumers
iv. Telecommunications providers and/or consumers
v. Water, sewer, providers and/or consumers
vi. Locally imposed, levied, and/or administered charges, fees or 

fines
vii. Locally imposed and/or administered Business Licenses or 

Registrations
viii. Taxpayers subject to Motor Fuel Tax
ix. Taxpayers subject to Local Amusement Taxes
x. Taxpayers subject to Business License and/or Registration Fees
xi. Taxpayers subject to Liquor License Taxes
xii. Taxpayers subject to Hotel Occupation Taxes
xiii. Taxpayers subject to Real Estate Transfer Taxes
xiv. A review of revenues distributed to the Customer by the State of 

Illinois, namely the Illinois Department of Revenue (“IDOR”), 
including reviewing IDOR address designations for Retailers’ 
Occupation Tax, Service Occupation Tax, Use Tax, and Service 
Use Tax remitters.



Page 2 of 8

b) The purpose of each Audit is to determine past, present, and future 
taxes, franchise fees, service fees, or any other refunds, monies or revenue owed to the 
Customer pursuant to the Revenue Sources but that were not properly attributed to the 
Customer or were not properly paid or collected. Federal and Illinois state law, the 
Customer’s own existing local ordinances and databases, and the franchise agreements, 
contracts or invoices to the Customer are used by Azavar to conduct the Audits and Azavar 
will present to Customer in writing during the course of the Audits findings of monies paid, 
due, or potentially due to the Customer for review by the Customer (“Findings”). Where 
already allowable by existing Customer contracts or agreements or Federal, State, or local 
laws or ordinances, Azavar will correct any prospective errors under such applicable laws, 
local ordinances, or contracts. As to the collection of past due monies, Azavar will consult 
with Customer prior to making a reasonable effort to collect such funds. Azavar shall 
present written Findings to Customer to maximize Customer revenues from the Revenue 
Sources as part of the Audits; and where such Findings require a change into the future, 
Customer may implement such change after Customer has consulted Azavar’s written 
Findings. Customer understands that Findings may require changes and/or updates to local 
ordinances or the codification thereof. Customer agrees to review any Findings within thirty 
(30) days. Customer agrees that any Findings, whether implemented in whole or in part by 
Azavar or the Customer, shall be fully compensable under Section 3 of this Agreement, 
which shall apply only to those Revenue Sources existing or currently generating revenue 
for the Customer at the time that Azavar begins actual review and audit services.

c) Customer hereby represents that it is not engaged in any Audits as 
contemplated under this Agreement or, to the extent that it is engaged in such Audits, shall 
cease such auditing upon execution of this Agreement, and shall therefore pay Azavar the 
fees set forth in this Agreement for any Findings made by Azavar. Customer agrees that it 
shall not initiate or engage in any Audits contemplated under this Agreement without 
Azavar’s written consent.

d) In order to perform the Audits, Azavar will require full access to 
Customer records and auditee records. Customer will use its authority as necessary to 
assist in acquiring information and procure data from auditees; to the extent permitted by 
law, Customer agrees to cooperate with Azavar, provide any necessary documentation, and 
will engage in necessary meetings with auditees, provided that the travel required to meet 
with auditees is reasonable. Customer acknowledges that each auditee is a separate entity 
that is not controlled by Azavar and therefore Azavar cannot predict all the steps or actions 
that an auditee will take to limit its responsibility or liability during the Audit.

e) During the course of each Audit, Azavar may find that rather than 
being owed past due funds, the Customer owes funds erroneously paid to the Customer by 
an auditee. In this case, Azavar will immediately terminate its Audit for that specific auditee 
at no cost to the Customer and will document the error and provide the Customer, but not 
the auditee (to the extent that the auditee does not already know of such error), with 
information necessary to correct the error. Azavar shall have no liability to Customer for 
these errors or actions arising from Azavar’s or Customer’s knowledge thereof.

f) Should Customer abate, cancel, amend, delay, or waive by any 
means all or a portion of funds identified in the Findings as payable to Customer during an 
Audit (a “Waiver”), Customer shall pay: (1) applicable contingency fees on the portion of the 
funds collected, and (2) time and materials for the portion subject to the Waiver. Time shall 
be charged at the rate of $150 per hour, and time and materials shall be prorated in the 



Page 3 of 8

case of a partial Waiver. Under no circumstances, however, should the total fee exceed 
what the applicable contingent fee would have been absent the Waiver. A voluntary 
settlement (formal or informal) with an auditee shall not be considered a Waiver, provided 
that the settlement is discussed, in advance, with Azavar and such agreement is, in 
Azavar’s sole but reasonable determination, on commercially reasonable terms. As stated in 
Section (b) of this Paragraph, this Section (f) shall not apply to Findings requiring an 
ordinance change, meaning that Customer will only pay fees to Azavar if it elects to 
implement the Finding.

g) All Audits will be initiated by Azavar within thirty (30) days from the 
date of this Agreement unless changed and approved by the Customer’s Audit Primary 
Contact and Liaison.

h) Each audit is expected to last at least six (6) months. Findings on later 
completed audits may be withheld pending Customer satisfactorily completing payment 
obligations from previously completed Audits. Audit timelines are set at the discretion of 
Azavar but will be discussed with Customer. Azavar shall use reasonable efforts to present 
Findings to Customer on all audits within eighteen (18) months following execution of this 
Agreement, but in no event later than 30 months.

i) Audit status meetings will be held regularly via phone, email, or in 
person throughout the course of the Audits between Azavar and the Customer’s Primary 
Contact and Liaison, and will occur approximately every quarter.

j) Jason Perry, Municipal Audit Program Manager, and Azavar 
specialists will be auditors under this agreement. All Azavar staff or subcontractors shall be 
supervised by the Azavar Program Manager.

1.2. Customer agrees to provide reasonable facilities, space, desks, chairs, 
telephone and reasonably necessary office supplies for Consultants working on Customer’s 
premises as may be reasonably required for the performance of the Services set forth in this 
Agreement and in any Exhibit hereto. Customer will assign and designate an employee to be 
the Audit Primary Contact and Liaison. The Customer’s Audit Primary Contact and Liaison will 
be the final decision maker for the Customer as it relates to Audits and will meet with Azavar 
staff on a regular basis as necessary. Lack of participation of Customer staff, especially at 
critical milestones during an Audit, will adversely affect the Audit timeline and successful 
recovery of funds. With reasonable prior notice, Customer’s staff shall be available for 
meetings and participation with auditees to properly verify records and recover funds.

2. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. Azavar acknowledges and agrees that the relationship 
of the parties hereunder shall be that of independent contractor, and that neither Azavar nor its 
employees shall be deemed to be an employee of Customer for any reason whatsoever. Neither 
Azavar nor Azavar’s employees shall be entitled to any Customer employment rights or benefits 
whatsoever. Customer shall execute such documents required by IDOR solely for the purpose 
of granting Azavar the power and authority to review data provided by IDOR. Azavar shall 
comply with Customer’s written policies on workplace conduct matters such as harassment and 
proper dress, and shall not disrupt staff or engage in improper social behavior. It is Customer’s 
responsibility to provide applicable written policies to Azavar in advance.

3. PAYMENT TERMS.



Page 4 of 8

3.1 Customer shall compensate Azavar the fees set forth in this agreement on a 
contingency basis. If applicable, Azavar shall submit an invoice to Customer on a monthly 
basis detailing the amounts charged to Customer pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 
Invoices shall include the start and end date of any particular item. Any invoice not disputed in 
writing by Customer within thirty (30) days after the receipt of such invoice shall be considered 
approved by the Customer. Customer shall remit payment to Azavar in accordance with the 
Local Government Prompt Payment Act. If Customer defaults on payment of any invoice that is 
not disputed in writing by Customer within thirty (30) days after the receipt of such invoice 
Azavar, at its discretion, may accelerate all payments due under this Agreement and seek 
recovery of all estimated fees due to Azavar based on Findings. Azavar shall be entitled to 
recover all costs of collection including, but not limited to, interest at the rate of one percent 
(1%) per month, reasonable attorney’s fees, court costs, for any efforts to collect fees from 
the Customer. Contingency payment terms are outlined below.  If Customer later implements 
during the subsequent thirty-six (36) months any Findings Customer initially declined based 
on Azavar programs or recommendations, Azavar shall be paid by Customer its portion of the 
savings and/or recoveries over the following thirty-six (36) months at the contingency fee 
rates set forth below, less any amounts paid under Paragraph 1.1(f).

3.2 Customer shall pay Azavar an amount equal to forty-five (45) percent of any 
new revenues or prospective funds recovered from the existing Revenue Sources per 
account or per auditee for thirty-six (36) months following when funds begin to be properly 
remitted to the Customer. In the event Azavar is able to recover any retroactive funds, any 
additional savings or revenue increases for any time period, or any credits at any time, 
Customer will pay Azavar an amount equal to forty-five (45) percent of any retroactive funds, 
savings, and fair market value for any other special consideration or compensation recovered 
for or received by the Customer from any auditee. All contingency fees paid to Azavar are 
based on actual receipts by the Customer of the additional revenue or actual savings 
experienced by the Customer. When the exact revenue or savings is not available, Azavar
and Customer shall agree on a method of estimation. All revenue after the thirty-six (36) 
month contingency period for each account individually will accrue to the sole benefit of the 
Customer.

3.3 As it pertains to Customer expenses, expenditures, and cost Audits, Customer 
shall pay Azavar an amount equal to forty-five (45) percent of subsequent savings approved 
by Customer for thirty-six (36) months following the date savings per auditee is implemented 
by Azavar or Customer. In the event Azavar is able to recover any refunds or any credits at 
any time, Customer will pay Azavar an amount equal to forty-five (45) percent of said refunds 
or credits recovered for or received by Customer from any auditee. All contingency fees paid 
to Azavar are based on actual savings experienced by the Customer. When the exact 
revenue or savings is not available, Azavar and Customer shall agree on a method of 
estimation. All savings after the thirty-six (36) month contingency period for each account 
individually will accrue to the sole benefit of the Customer.

3.4 Lake County Consortium Discount. Azavar will discount the prospective 
contingency payments referred to in Sections 3.2 and 3.3 above from forty-five (45) percent to 
a lesser percentage (“Discount”) for Customer and other Lake County Municipalities that 
execute this Agreement and provide it to Azavar on or before October 31, 2018. The Discount 
is based on the number of Lake County Municipalities and is as follows:

Executed Agreements Necessary to Achieve Discount and Discounted Fee



Page 5 of 8

3 - 4 Municipalities 40%
5 - 6 Municipalities 39%
7 - 8 Municipalities 38%
9 or more Municipalities 37%

3.5 To the extent that any payment is due to Azavar after April 30, 2022 or any 
Finding has been presented to Customer, but not acted upon, this Section 3.5 shall apply:

a) Azavar shall estimate the total amount due after April 30, 2019 and 
shall bill Customer for this amount on or before March 31, 2019, with a due date of April 30, 
2019.

b) Notwithstanding the due date of April 30, 2019, Azavar shall toll all 
contractual and statutory remedies (including the Local Government Prompt Payment Act.) 
for nonpayment until June 30, 2019.

c) If Customer signs a new contract (or contract amendment) with 
Azavar on or before June 30, 2019, payment terms shall revert to those that would have 
applied in the absence of this Section 3.5.

d) If Customer does not sign a new contract (or contract amendment) 
with Azavar on or before June 30, 2019, and has not paid the bill due on April 30, 2019 by 
June 30, 2019, Customer shall be in default, retroactive to April 30, 2019, and agrees that 
the Local Government Prompt Payment Act is applicable and has not been waived by 
Azavar.

3.6 No payment shall be due to Azavar beyond 60 months following the execution 
of this agreement except:

a) If the last sentence of Section 3.1 applies; or

b) If Azavar has presented a Finding related to prospective tax or fee 
collection to Customer, but the auditee does not implement the changes necessary to 
generate the corresponding revenues (or does not report the value of such changes) in a 
timely manner such that the thirty-six (36) month period for which Azavar’s fee would be due 
extends beyond the sixty (60) month deadline; or

c) By agreement between Azavar and Customer, which may or may not 
be in the form of a contract amendment, but at minimum must be memorialized in writing, to 
include electronic mail.

4. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

4.1 Each party acknowledges that in the performance of its obligations hereunder, 
either party may have access to information belonging to the other which is proprietary, 
private and highly confidential (“Confidential Information”). Each party, on behalf of itself and 
its employees, agrees not to disclose to any third party any Confidential Information to which 
it may have access while performing its obligations hereunder without the written consent of 
the disclosing party which shall be executed by an officer of such disclosing party. 
Confidential Information does not include: (1) written information legally acquired by either 



Page 6 of 8

party prior to the negotiation of this Agreement, (2) information which is or becomes a matter 
of public knowledge, (3) information which is or becomes available to the recipient party from 
third parties where such third parties have no confidentiality obligations to the disclosing 
party; and (4) information subject to disclosure under Illinois’ Freedom of Information Act (5 
ILCS 140/1 et seq.).

4.2 Azavar agrees that any work product or any other data or information that is 
provided by Customer in connection with the Services shall remain the property of Customer, 
and shall be returned promptly upon demand by Customer, or if not earlier demanded, upon 
expiration of the Services provided under the Statement of Work.

4.3 Azavar agrees to maintain, without charge to the Customer, all records and 
documents of the Customer in compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS 140/1 
et seq. In addition, Azavar shall produce records which are responsive to a request received 
by the Customer under the Freedom of Information Act so that the Customer may provide 
records to those requesting them within the time frames required. If additional time is 
necessary to compile records in response to a request, then Azavar shall so notify the 
Customer and if possible, the Customer shall request an extension so as to comply with the 
Act. In the event that the Customer is found to have not complied with the Freedom of 
Information Act due to Azavar’s failure to produce documents or otherwise appropriately 
respond to a request under the Act, then Azavar shall indemnify and hold the Customer 
harmless, and pay all amounts determined to be due including fines and costs.

5. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

5.1 No work performed by Azavar or any Consultant with respect to the Services or 
any supporting or related documentation therefor shall be considered to be a Work Made for 
Hire (as defined under U.S. copyright law) and, as such, shall be owned by and for the benefit 
of Azavar. In the event that it should be determined that any of such Services or supporting 
documentation qualifies as a "Work Made for Hire" under U.S. copyright law, then Customer 
will and hereby does assign to Azavar, for no additional consideration, all right, title, and
interest that it may possess in such Services and related documentation including, but not 
limited to, all copyright and proprietary rights relating thereto. Upon request, Customer will take 
such steps as are reasonably necessary to enable Azavar to record such assignment. 
Customer will sign, upon request, any documents needed to confirm that the Services or any 
portion thereof is not a Work Made for Hire and/or to effectuate the assignment of its rights to 
Azavar.

5.2 Under no circumstance shall Customer have the right to distribute any software 
containing, or based upon, Confidential Information of Azavar to any third party without the 
prior written consent of Azavar which must be executed by a senior officer of Azavar.

6. DISCLAIMER. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, 
AZAVAR DOES NOT MAKE ANY WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT 
TO THE SERVICES RENDERED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR THE RESULTS 
OBTAINED FROM AZAVAR’S WORK, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED 
WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. IN 
NO EVENT SHALL AZAVAR BE LIABLE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, 
OR INDIRECT DAMAGES, OR FOR ACTS OF NEGLIGENCE THAT ARE NOT 
INTENTIONAL OR RECKLESS IN NATURE, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER IT HAS BEEN 
ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. CUSTOMER AGREES THAT 



Page 7 of 8

AZAVAR’S LIABILITY HEREUNDER FOR DAMAGES, REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF 
ACTION, SHALL NOT EXCEED THE TOTAL AMOUNT PAID FOR THE SERVICES GIVING 
RISE TO THE DAMAGES UNDER THE APPLICABLE ESTIMATE OR IN THE 
AUTHORIZATION FOR THE PARTICULAR SERVICE IF NO ESTIMATE IS PROVIDED.

7. TERMINATION 

7.1 Unless earlier terminated in accordance with Section 7.2 below, this 
Agreement shall be effective from the date first written above and shall continue thereafter 
until terminated upon 90 days written notice by Customer or Azavar.

7.2 Termination for any cause or under any provision of this Agreement shall not 
prejudice or affect any right of action or remedy which shall have accrued or shall thereafter 
accrue to either party.

7.3 The provisions set forth above in Section 3 (Payment Terms), Section 4 
(Confidential Information), and Section 5 (Intellectual Property) and below in Section 9 
(Assignment), and Section 10 (Use of Customer Name) shall survive termination of this 
Agreement.

8. NOTICES. Any notice made in accordance with this Agreement shall be sent by 
certified mail or by overnight express mail:

If to Azavar If to Customer
General Counsel Brad Burke, Village Manager
Azavar Audit Solutions, Inc. Village of Lincolnshire
55 East Jackson Boulevard, Suite 2100 One Olde Half Day Road
Chicago, Illinois 60604 Lincolnshire, IL 60069

9. ASSIGNMENT. Neither party may assign this Agreement or any of its rights 
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party hereto, except Azavar shall be 
entitled to assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement in connection with a sale of 
all or substantially all of Azavar’s assets.

10. USE OF CUSTOMER NAME. Customer hereby consents to Azavar’s use of 
Customer’s name in Azavar’s marketing materials; provided, however, that Customer’s name 
shall not be so used in such a fashion that could reasonably be deemed to be an 
endorsement by Customer of Azavar unless such an endorsement is provided by customer.

11. COMPLETE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, along with each additional Statement of 
Work attached hereto from time to time, contains the entire Agreement between the parties 
hereto with respect to the matters specified herein. The invalidity or unenforceability of any 
provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision 
hereof. This Agreement shall not be amended except by a written amendment executed by 
the parties hereto. No delay, neglect or forbearance on the part of either party in enforcing 
against the other any term or condition of this Agreement shall either be, or be deemed to be, 
a waiver or in any way prejudice any right of that party under this Agreement. This Agreement 
shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Illinois and the parties hereby 
consent to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Illinois.



Page 8 of 8

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in 
duplicate originals by their duly authorized representatives as of the date set forth below.

AZAVAR AUDIT SOLUTIONS, INC. CUSTOMER: VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE, ILLINOIS

By By 

Title Title 

Date Date 













�������	
��������	����	 	 ���	�	

��������	����	��	
������	�����	 	 ���������	

����	� 	!���	

��������
��� "#	�#��	 ��	 �����	$���	  ����$	 �#	 ������%%	 ����	 � 	$���	 ��	 %����&%	 ��	'���&�����	

���%�	 %��%	 (���#	 �)	 ���*+	 $#��#	 ���,�%�	  ��	 �	 �$	 ������	 �������-��	 ��	 �#	

.�������#��	/�����	0���	�	�����	 �������	��	�#	����#	��%	� 	��������	����	��	1�.	��2+	$��#	�	

���#�	������#�	���	1���32	������	

��� "#��	���4��	$���	&	������%	,��	�����	&�	�#	��������	5�������	� 	"�������������	1�53"2�	

��	��	�����%	�#��	�53"	$���	���	�6���	�	���#�	����	��-������	���+	�	���  ��	������	���%�+	��	�	

 �����	���%	�#��	*7	 ��	�#	������%	�����	%��,$���	

��� "#	����	� 	$���	$���	 �����%	�#	 ������������	� 	��	�����	%��,$��	 ���	�#	.�������#��	

/�����	0���	��-������	�������	���	��	�.	���	

)�� "#	���4��	$���	&���	��	����	��%	&	������%	��	����$	 ��	������������	��	���8�	

9�� "#	������	� 	�#	�����,���	$���	&	��	 ����$�:	

�2� "#	�����,���	��	�����%	;�9<	����#$��	� 	�#	����������	� 	�.	��	��%	3�%	0�� 	

5��	���%�	"#	������%	�����	�������	�#	������	���������%	��	$��&���%	�.	���		

&2� "#	�����	����#	� 	�#	���4��	��	�	%��,$��	� 	��	 ��	

;�� "#	%����	$���	 ����$	�#	���%����	��	 ���#	��	�#	��������	5�������	� 	"�������������<�	

1�53"<�2	 ������� �	� 
����� ���� ������������ ������+	 �#	 �������	 �����������	 � 	 ����	

0��#$��	 ��%	 "�������������	 3  ������<	 1���0"3<�2	 �� ������� ��� ���������� 
����� �	�
�������������������������� ��!"+	��%	/�����	� 	.�������#��	5����	=��%�����	

	

*�� "#	  ����$���	 ����	 ��	 ���	 �������&�:	 ��&���	������+	 ����������	$���+	 ����#+	 ���#����+	

&���%���	���,�+	������%	�3!+	�����	>	������		

	

�	�
���	

��� "#	%��,$��	$���	&	%����%	�����	����?"���	 ��	�	%����	,#���	� 	�	���������@/�		�	

�������	����	$���	&	%,���%	 ��	�,�$	&�	�#	/�����	��%	�53"	�������			

��� �	���%$��	�����?������	$���	&	%,���%	��	�#	%��,$��	���������	

��� ���#�	%������	��������	$���	&	���,�%%	��	�#	������	��������	��	�.	���			

)�� =���%����	$�������	��%	����#	� 	�%	$���	&	�#��%	&��%	��	���	������%	-��,�����	 ��	

�����������	������	�����	�.	���			

9�� A�������	 5�������	 $���	 &	 %,���%	 ��	 �����%���	 $��#	 �#	 ����	 � 	 ��������	 B����%��%	

���� ��������	 ��	���%	��%	C��%�	A�����������D	�%���%	E������	�+	���;+	����������	� 	�#	

 ����$���:	

�2� ��?��	5����	'���	1C��	�#��2	

&2� A�,�	�#�	

�2� ��%-	� 	�#��+	0��#$��	����%��%�+	��%	=����	F����	

%2� �������	� 	G��������		

2� ��������+	"��+	��%	C��#�����		

 2� ����	��%	��� ��	�#�	?	"#	�#�	$���	&	�����%	��	�	����	� 	�DH��<�	"#	��� ��	

,�$	$���	&	��	�	#���I�����	����	� 	�DH��<	��%	�	,������	����	� 	�DH�<�	"#	�#�	

$���	 �����%	 ����	 ��	 &	 ���,%�	 	 "#	 �#�	 $���	 �����%	 ��,���	 �������	 ��%	

�������+	 ��	 �%%�	 	 "#	 �#�	 $���	 �����%	 ���%�������	 ����	 �#��	 $���	 �������	 � 	



�������	
��������	����	 	 ���	�	

��������	����	��	
������	�����	 	 ���������	

����	� 	!���	

�%���	�����	����	%�����&%	&�	������������+	��	$��	��	�#	��������	� 	��������	

���	$#�	�����������	

�2� 5������	 ��%	@������	�#�	J	F������	%������	 ������������	$���	 &	�����%�	"#	

%������	>	�������	�#�	$���	�#�$	������%	���,���+	�����	�$��	��%	���������+	��	

�������&��	 "#	 %��$����	 $���	 �����%	 -������	 %������	 ���,���	 ��%	 �%4��������	

"#	�#�	$���	�������	� 	�$�	$��%�$�	%�������	�	������%	����	,�$	��%	�	��� ���	

"#	#���I�����	����	� 	&��#	$��%�$�	$���	&	�DH��<�	"#	,������	����	� 	�#	��� ��	

$���	&	�DH�<�	"#	%������	��� ��	$���	�#�$	���	������%	�����	�$�	��%	��������	

� 	�#	-������	�����	�$�	��	�����	��%	������%	%���#	��%	�$��	��� ����	"#	�#�	

$���	 �����%	������	��%	 ��	���,�%	 ��������	�������	 ������	 ��	��,��	������	

��%	 �%����	 %�����	 ��	 �#	 %�$������	%������	 ������$���$���+	 ��%	 �%4����	

��������	 %�����	 �������������	 ����	 �#	 ���4��	 $���	 %�����&	 ���	 �#��	 ��	 ���+	

�����%���	 �#	 �����������	 ������	 ���+	 �	 �����	!���	 ���������	 ��,�����	 ����	

1�!���2	$���	���	&	%,���%	 ��	�#	��������	

#2� ����������	 5�����	 J	 ����������	 ��,���	 �����	 $���	 &	 �����%	  ��	 �#	 ������%	

������	��	�	�DH��<	����	��%	$���	�������	�,������	��	���	%��	� 	��,���+	��%	

���	�����	

�2� 5�������	 �	 5����	 5��$����	 J	 �������&�	 5�������	 3�	 ����%��%	 5�����	 $���	 &	

�����#%	��%	�����%%	��	�#	��������	%��������	

42� /�����	� 	.�������#��	����%��%	5�����	J	�������&�	/�����	����%��%	5�����	$���	&	

�����#%	��%	�����%%	��	�#	��������	%��������	

�2� A����?�������	 J	 �	 �����?������	 $���	 &	 ���,�%%	 ��	 �#	 ������	 ��������	 ��%	

�%%�������	�������	�����	��#�	����	%�����&%	&�	�������������	A��+	 ���+	��%	���,��	

��%	%�������	� 	�������&�	�������	����	��%	,�����	$���	&	���,�%%�	

�2� =��%���	 ����	 J	 �	 ���%���	 ����	 $���	 &	 ���,�%%	  ��	 �#	 ������%	 �����������	

������	���������			

;�� ������	���,������	J	������	���,������	$���	&	�������	��	���,�%	%����������	� 	$���	�#��	

��	 ���	 ��,�%	 &�	 �#	 ����%��%	 ���� ���������	 ����	 �����%%	 ��	 �#��	 ���	 ��	 ���������	 � 	

�������&�	 ��������+	 C.�>�+	 5�������+	 ��%	 /�����	 ������	 ���,������+	 ��%	 ���	 ���4��	

���� ��	������	���,�������	

*�� 
������	 � 	 "��	 J	 "#	 -���%	 %�������	 � 	 ������������	 ���	 $���	 &	 %�����%	 ��%	

���,�%%	��	��&����	 ������	

��� 
������	� 	A���	J	"#	���������%	����	� 	������������	$���	&	���,�%%	�����	�#	���	����	

��%	#���������	����	������	

8�� �����	 
-#�&��	 J	 �����	 -#�&��	 �#�$���	 �#	 ������%	 ���4��	 ��	 �	 ����	 � 	 9�:�	 � 	 ��I	

��D-�*D�	

���� G�������	 A�����������	 J	 5����%	 &���%�$��	 $���	 &	 ���,�%%	  ��	 ,��	 ���	 ���	 ��%	

�������%��%	 ��	��	%�����	�������������		

���� �	����?��?#��%	 ��%	�,�$	$���	&	#�%�		

�

����������������
=����	

��� "#	'���&�����	���%�	$���	&	��%	��	 �#	&����	� 	%����	  ��	 �#	������%	%������	 ������	

5������	�����	$��#��	�#	,�������	� 	�#	���4��	$���	&	�,�$%�	



�������	
��������	����	 	 ���	�	

��������	����	��	
������	�����	 	 ���������	

����	� 	!���	

�����$���	5������	

��� "#	-������	%������	���%+	 ����#	� 	 �.	��+	#��	��	-���	 ��������	� 	����	��? ��	"#��	 ��	

���	�#��	����#	,����	 ��	�#	���������%	%������	������	�6���%	 ��	�#��	���4��+	&��%	

��	�#	���4��	 ���&�����	���%��		

�����	�$��	��%	A��,���	

��� "#	-������	�����	�$�	�#���%	���	&	�  ��%	&�	�#	���4���	

)�� �������	 $���	 �%4���	 ���	 �����	   ��%	 &�	 �#	 �$	 ������������	 ��%	 �� ���	 ����	 �������	

������������+	� 	�6���%�		

9�� 5������	��������	��I�	��%	����	��%	���	��%	��,��	�,������	$���	&	���� �%�	

;�� �	�$	���,��	���	&	����%	��%�	�#	������%	�����	� 	%���%�	��,��	�,������	��%	�%	

�������	$���	&	���� �%	��	�6���%�	

�$���	��%	5���#�	

*�� �������	 $���	 %,���	 �����?�������	  ��	 ���	 �$���	 ��%	 %���#�	 $��#��	 �#	 ���#�?� ?$���	 ��	 ��	

�����%	�#��	�����?�������	$���	&	�����%	��	����,���	� 	�9	 ��	

��� 5���#�	$���	&	�#��%	 ��	#�%������	���������	

8�� !#�	�%%+	�������	$���	%����	%���#	�������	��%	��#�	������	�������	 �����	$��#��	�#	

%���#��	

A����������	������	

��������	 �#	 ������%	 �����	 ��	 �����%	 $��#��	 �#	  ���%�����+	 �����������	 ������	 $���	 &	

�6���%�	"#�	��	K��	�
	 ���%�����	�#��	$���	&	������%	&�	�#	������%	�����,����	��	

��	�����%	�#��	�#	��?���	��%	���?���	 ���%�����	�,������	��%	��	�#	�#��	�	���%�	$���	

&	 ������&�	 ��	 .��	 A�����	 �����$���	 (�������	 A���������	 1.A�(A2	  ��	

����������		

����C��%	 ��	  ����	 ���%$��	 �����?�������+	 �#	  ���%�����	  ���	 ������������	 ���,�%%	 ��	 �#	

'���&�����	���%�	$���	&	�#��%	��%	� ��%	��	�%%�	

����'���%�����	 �����������	 ������	$���	 &	 -��,��%	 4���	 ��	 �#	$��	 � 	 �#	 ������%	 �����	

%��,�	�	���%���	����	$���	&	%,���%	 ��	�#��	$����	 ��	 ��	�����%	�#��	 �#	$����%	��	�#��	

���	$���	���	&	 ������%	��%	 �#	���%���	$���	$���	&	�������%	$��#��	 �#	/�����	�$�%	

�����	��	�.	��	���#�?� ?$���	

���� ��	 ��	�����%	 �#��	%�����&%	����	$��#��	 �#��	�����������	������	���	$���	&	 �����%	&�	

�%���	$��#	����%��%	�53"	�%	��-�����	

	

'���%�����	(�%�����		

�)����	����%	��	�#	 ���&�����	���%�+	.A�(A	$���	�6���	&���$���	��%����	� 	�#	 ���%�����	

����	���#	� 	�#	�����������	������	��	�����%	������	�.	����	���	"#��	��%�	����	 ����	

&	�&����%	 ���	�#	��!�+	'
(�+	��	�����	���		

�������
��� �	 .��	 A�����	 �(A	 �����	 1!����#%	 5,������	 �����2	 $���	 &	 �6���%	 %�	 ��	

������������	$��#��	�#	 ���%������		



�������	
��������	����	 	 ���	)	

��������	����	��	
������	�����	 	 ���������	

����	� 	!���	

��� ����	��	��	�����%	�#��	���	�#��	��	���	� 	���%	$���	&	%�����&%	&�	�#��	���4��+	�	F����	� 	

�����	 ��%	 �����	 !���	 ���������	 ��,�����	 ����	 1�!���2	 $���	 ���	 &	 �����%	 ��%	

��&����%	��	�#	�
��	 ��	F�5
�	�����$���	�����	�����,���		

��� �����	 �+	$#�	�������&�+	��	���	�����%%�		

)�� ��	��	�����%	�#��	���#�	�	@���	����	A����	� 	
������	������	1@��A
2	)�)	�����	���	�	

E����	�����	$���	&	�6���%	 ��	�#��	���4���	

9�� �	4����	�����	�����������	�����	$��#	���	����	�#��	$���	�%	��	&	���	��	�#	�5F��3!�	

��	�#�$	�#��	,�	�#���#	�#	���4��	��	��	�#	 ���%�����+	��	��	���	�����%	��	�#	 ���%$���	

;�� ��	��	�����%	�#��	��	������������	�������	�����	$���	���	&	�6���%�	

*�� A�������	 �������	 ��%	 ">
	 �����	 ��������	 $���	 &	 �6���%�	 .����	 $���	 &	 ���	 ��	

@�'>!�	��%	�0�3	��	��	�������	 ��	">
	�����	��%	��������	�������+	������,���	

��� �	�
������	$���	���	&	�6���%+	#�$,�	�	AA55	����?�  	$���	&	���,�%%	 ��	�#	������%	

-��,������	��	��	�����%	�#��	C����$�@�	���	������	$���	&	�&����%	&�	�#	�����������	

8�� !����%	%���������	$���	&	���,�%%	&�	�	��&�����������	

����"�	���,�	&�	��	��&�����	$���	���	&	�6���%�			

�
�������

��� �������	 
��������	 $���	 �%��� �	 ��������	 �������	 ��� �����	 ��%	 ���� �	 �#	 �  ��%	 �������	

�$���	� 	�#�	��������	��� ������	

��� �������	$���	�,�$	���	�������	�����	��&�������	 ��	�����������	

��� ��	��	�����%	��	$���	����+	��������+	��	��#�	�������	���������	��	�%����	$���	&	������%	

&�	�������	 ��	�#��	���4���		

�
�������
�	��������#��	���,�	$���	&	�� ���%	� 	�#	������%	%��,$��	���	��%	$#�	�#	�����������	

������	��	������%+	��	�#	'���&�����	���%��		3�#�	����	��	&	���#�%	��:	

��� .,�	  ���	 ���&�	 F=�	 &��#�����	 $��#	 F�/5	 ��	 
�,������	 ��	  ��������	 �#	 �������	

%����������	� 	�#	 ���%	�,������	�#����#	�#	���4��	����	

��� ���,�	9��	 �	$�����	��%	������	�����	�.	����	��	��	 ��������	�	���	� 	���#�	���%��	

��� "�	���,�	��	�%��� �	������%	���	 ��	�#	%��,$��	�������������	

)�� @�������	���,�	��	�%��� �	���������	� 	�,�#�%	��%	��%������%	���������	

9�� 5������	���,�	��	�%��� �	�#	�����	� 	�#	�$��	�	%���#	�#��	�#	%��,$��	$���%	������	

�

�������������
��		�
���	��
��� 5��,��&��	

�2� ����������	=������	����	

�2� /�����	� 	.�������#��	

��2� �53"	������		

&2� A�������	�����	

�2� /�����	?	�	6�����	��I	����	��%	������	���,������	



�������	
��������	����	 	 ���	9	

��������	����	��	
������	�����	 	 ���������	

����	� 	!���	

��2� �53"	������	?	9	6�����	��I	�����	��%	������	���,������	

���2� @�������	J	�	6�����	��I	����	��#	

�2� '����	G�������	A�����������	

�2� /�����	J	�	����	��%	�5'	

%2� A�����������	A���	
������	

2� A�����������	��#%���
������	� 	"��	

 2� �53"	�����	��%	C��%	'����	J	�	����	

�2� �����	
-#�&��	 ��	��	��	�#	/�����<�	$&���	��	����������	��	�����	���%���	�#	

����	� 	�#	���4��	

��� "#	���4��	$���	��,��,	����%�������	$��#:	

�2� /�����	?	���4��	%,������	��%	���������	������		

&2� �53"	J	����	�,�$�	��%	���� ��	&����	�,�$	� 	�����,����		

�2� .��	A�����	�����$���	(�������	A���������	

%2� ��������	
�,���������	���������	�����	

2� ��������	5�������	� 	F������	�������	�	3  ��	� 	!���	�������	

 2� ���	�������	��������	#�,���	 ��������	$��#��	�#	���4��	������	

�2� /�����	$&���	��%���	

	

�������������������������	���	��
"#��	����	�����%�	�#	������������	� 	�#	G��GA	����	 ��	�#��	���4���		

	

�
�������	������������	

"#��	����	�����%�	�#	�,����	���4��	�%������������	�����	 ��	�#	���4��	$����		�������	������	$���	

&	��&����%	��	/�����	$��#	��#	����#��	��,���	��&����%�		



�������	
����

����	���
����������	�	����������	���������

��������	��������

����	�	��	 
�������!	"#"$#"%�&

�����	��	������'�	�����
��
� (����� ��������

� ������'�	����	���)�������
��������'	����	 �*
�����#��+��	(���� � *
����,	��	(�����-		.������#(����	(��������	/	�������	����� � &
(�����0	��	1��������� � �"
�0)�'��	(�'����� � "
���������	���	����

������	�
������������ �  
�������
���������	�
����
��������
������	� �  

����	���	�������	(�����	2('���	�34"%56 "  %

�	�������
	���
���	�	�
�������������������������		�	�
����� �!	��
	��

7�������	���	8�����0	(����	2('���	�34"%56	2"	+��9�#�����6 " �%

"#��
��������!��!��	���������	��
	��
$
���
%��
	��
�	�!����%�	������� ��
����	��&�	�

7�������	���'��������
	
&

�������'����	7������	2('���	�34�%56	 �  
���'���������	7������

" "
� "
� "

�����	(�'�����	2:	";5	�����+���6	2%;	��#<�(�'����6 " &
�������	���� � *

�=��>	(?

�(	4 �&
�=��>	�=������	�>��	��
������=�	�?5(	4 �$ 

" ()�'�-	('������-	����-	@����
()�'���	���+������ " 

�������	��	���� "

��������	
�������	��	���� �"
������	
,��A�� "
1������0	���'�������� "&
�7=�	������	@���� "

�=��>	�=������	�>��	��
������=�	2(�
�(-	(�?
78>
-	�=(�-	@=��(6	�?5(	4 B%


(�����
7	7��
��	�=(�(	4  "%C																	

�>	""	
������'0	�''���

'� �&�	�(�

'� �&�	�(�

)�� 	����	�&��*���	��%�������%�*	
����

(9����	���	7��'���
*	�������������+�����
 ,	����������	��-�� �&�	���������� ������	 
����.

)���+%�'*/��*	
�����-)���������+� �
�����0�
�
�	�1�� ����+�2�	
 3.
4�����	��+���� ����,��	�5
�������*	
����

'�066�)��,�&�����)��,�&����,��	�''



�������	
����

����	���
����������	�	����������	���������

��������	��������

����	"	��	 
�������!	"#"$#"%�&

�����	��	������'�	����� �>	""	
������'0	�''���
���������	���	��)����'����

����@����	(�A������
����,		
���+��!	 ������7������	
������7�����8�3��!	���,		
�� �%%C																	
9� �!�	���:����	�����7������	
������7�����8�36;�!	���,		
��  ;C																			

@����	(�A������
����,		
���+��!	 ������7��������	
������7�����8�3��!	���,		
�� �%%C																	
9� �!�	���:����	�����7��������	
������7�����8�36;�!	���,		
�� �B;C																	

$ 7�������
��+��9	��	@����A����0	(���0 "
(����9����	7��������

����%����������!!��� &
��� &��
���� &

(����	(�9���	/	���+����
�%���+����'��	
�5!� ��� �*

(9����	/	7��'���
&

�%���&�� ���!� �
%� �� �  
"����������
���  

���)�������0	(������
*���	��%�<������� &��
���� �"
=�����������5
����	� �� � �*

@����)����	��������  %

�=��>	7������
	�?5(	4 ��&

: �������
D�=

/1
�����%���&�� �)��	�  
��������
������
,���5)�  
5����"�������>�5	���	�
����
��� &
<����!�����>����!	���
��%�5
����	 �"
?	
���� "
*	
	�
��� �"
����
�����@����-���&�	�6��	0�&1��

���.  
�	0�&1��

��� �*

�7��#=D�	(�A������	2�����-	D�����)-	'�����������6 �*
8(@/D( "
(?�= "

�=��>	�
����(	�?5(	4 &"

(�����
7	7��
��	�=(�(	4  "%C																	

���������	���	��)����'����
D�=	������	(�A������

����,		
���7���:��	
������7�����8�3��!	���,		
��7�A��&1��

����� �"%C																	
 �!�	���:����	��6;���7��:��	
������7�����8�36;�!	���,		
��#�A��&1��

����� $%%C																	

�,	 ��,%���&�� � �!� �
%��+���
 ,	����������	�

'�066�)��,�&�����)��,�&����,��	�''



�������	
����

����	���
����������	�	����������	���������

��������	��������

����	$	��	 
�������!	"#"$#"%�&

�����	��	������'�	����� �>	""	
������'0	�''���
; (��+�0 �?�
(��	�������  
>�+�����	����	E�	���	@����	F���	������ �*
(��������� "
��)�	(��+�0 �%
(��+�0	�����	�����	""	���	�����	������'� �%
���������	���	(��������� "
(��	���������	9���	���� "
7�������	(��+�0  
�����  
8��������  
=���'�	���'G���	���	��+��9 �*

(�A�����	��������	4 B 

��������	7���'�	����	4 ;;;C																	

����	��0��B�
��!��C�8D;��	,� �	���%  ;;C																	
)�
	�����������	!���& 
����-)%����. ;%C																			
5&��	%�)�
	����� ;%C																			

* 
�+����������	(��+�'��	2?���	/	?���6 �?�
D�������	���	��77 E0	?/?

(�A�����	��������	4 E0	?/?

B ��������#@����	���'G�#������������ �������� �?�
'*/���	���
��)		
����-��		
����0�6�!	�!�	. � *
'*/���	��
����������
��� *
����0��0�����<�	����	��	��)		
����-��		
����0�A�!	�!�	. � �"
4�����	�)		
����-��		
����0�6�!	�!�	. � *
$
���
%���������
��� �%

@����	���'G� @����	���'G� �?�
������% �  
*������	 �  

�����	��������	#	@����	���'G�! ;
�=��>	�

����(	#	@�
>7	�?
��	#	�==�7�����=�	�?5(	4  &


(�����
7	7��
��	�=(�(	4 $B;C																	

���������	���	��)����'����	-;���!��	��#�8�3��!��	. ;%C																			
.���'��	8���� 	
�����;��	,� �	���%��7�8D;���% $";C																	

'�066�)��,�&�����)��,�&����,��	�''



�������	
����

����	���
����������	�	����������	���������

��������	��������

����	 	��	 
�������!	"#"$#"%�&

�����	��	������'�	����� �>	""	
������'0	�''���

& ��������������	���	1�#1� �?�
������0	��������	��)����-	��+��'��-	('�������� �%
�������	1�#1�	��	(�A������	7�'������ &

�=��>	1�#1�	�?5(	4 �&

(�����
7	7��
��	�=(�(	4 �;%C																	

���������	���	��)����'����	-;���!��	��#�8�3��!��	. ;%C																			
(��))���#������� �%%C																	

(8����H	=@	D=��?=8�(	��7	7��
��	�=(�( D��G����� �����

� ������'�	����	���)������� �$ 	C									 "%	

" ()�'�-	('������-	����-	@���� B% 	C												�			

$ 7������� ��& 	C												�			

 ������� &" 	C									 "%	

; (��+�0 B 	C									;;;	
* 
�+����������	(��+�'��	2?���	/	?���6 E0	?/? 	C												�			

B ��������#@����	���'G�#������������  & 	C									$B;	
& ��������������	���	1�#1� �& 	C									�;%	

�=��>(! ;  C�-I"%

'�066�)��,�&�����)��,�&����,��	�''



�=(�	
(�����
	=@	�=�(8>����	(
�.��
(

@��� �����'G	
����������-	��' 7��
 %"#"$#�&
�(E �#� =.
�?
�7	���
 �;&%*
����
#(8��>
�
�� ����� �=��>
<��H	@���=� %

7E
 =.
�?
�7 ���?=8(
 =������ (
�.��
( J	=@
7�=� ��
� ���?=8�( ��H�=>> / 7��
�� @�<
7 7���'� EH 7E
	 �=��> ����7
E=< @����
	E
�@ �=(�( @

 ����� =�?
�( �=��> �=��>

2�6 2E6 2	�	6 276 2
6 2@6 2�6 2?6 2E��6
���
�� 
��������	!���
��� A: ;2B;3D� 929�3;; :6�3�� 2E:3EB � ;2DE3A 663:EF
5!	 �2�<���� B� 62B:3�� :2AA63:6 �3�� 2�:3B � 92�9B3;E 3;EF
*������	 9 :2BED3ED B2;963�B �3�� 2BB:399 � :2;A3E 6�36EF
�	���
� 96 A2AD636B ;2A:3:� :6�3�� 26::3�: � �2A:�3B :396F
5&��	% B: 62;9A3B� :2�9A39� ;;;3�� E;;3EB � 92B93:B 3B6F
"�������	�
�� � �3�� �3�� �3�� �3�� A2BB:3D; � A2BB:3D; ;3:F
)
�����������
��� :9 62A�E3;; A2D;�3:B AB;3�� 9;:3;A � B29E3;D �3A�F
�����3�>�G��G� 9 B:B3: 29�3EA ;�3�� 6BD3:: � 62A;:3; A3ABF

� � � � � �
� � � � � �
� � � � � �
� � � � � � �

�=��>( ;:: 62BD366 A:2A6:3DD 2E6�3�� 92�A;3�� �3�� A2BB:3D; �3�� *I-BB%;$ ��3��F

�=(�	�>8(	@�<
7	@



��������	��
�
���������������������� ��
���
7	EH	�?
	�=�(8>���� ������������������ �!"��������#$



�.
���
	?=8�>H	��=K
��	���
(

@��� �����'G	
����������-	��'
�(E �#� 7��
 %"#"$#�&
����
#(8��>
�
�� �����

(?

� � /< "

��H�=>> �.� �=��>	��=K
��	���
( ������'�	����	���)������� ()�'�-	@���� 7������� ������� (��+�0
?=8�>H	 ?���� J D��� ?���� J D��� ?���� J D��� ?���� J D��� ?���� J D��� ?���� J D���

�>�((�@�����=� ���
( ���� �+� ���� �+� ���� �+� ���� �+� ���� �+� ���� �+�
���� �!�� B�3�� � � : 63EEF 63�E � � � � � � � �
���H	 
�)����	� D:36D 6D :39EF A3: � B3:DF :39� � :36EF E39 � � 6 63::F 3;B � �
���H	 
�"����		��A�: ;;3E� D; 6366F D39A � � � � A� 6;3:6F :36 6� 6:3AEF A3DA � �
���H	 
�"����		���6 ::39 :; 93:DF A3BE 6� :3EAF D3DE � :36EF D3:� � � � � � �
5
�++�"����		��A AB3AB EA B3:9F D3;A :� 6E39;F 3D � :36EF ;3A: 69 6A3BAF 939B ; 936EF D39: � �
5
�++�"����		��6 A:3;D D� A�3�9F �3AE 6� :3EAF ;3D 6� 693;BF E39B D� ;�39;F B3;B :; ;:399F 93EB � �
5
�++�"����		�� 6E36B D� 369F A3A� :� 6E39;F 93B: 6� 693;BF 93AD � � � � � �
5&��	%�)����	� DA3�� : �3B;F �3:B � � � � � � � � : ;3:F A3:
���H	 
�5&��	%�� A93�� A; D3;9F 63;� � � � � � � � � A; :B3A�F B3EB
5
�++�5&��	%�� 693D6 A; D3;9F 399 � � � � � � � � A; :B3A�F A3;:
�����������
��
 6A3:� E 3DEF �3:� � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

�=��>( ;A6 ��F 8AE36: A: ��3��F 8A93D6 B� ��F 8AE3D 9 ��F 8:�3D; 96 ��F 8:3�� B: ��F 8A:3E

��������	��
�
������������������%��� ��
���
7	EH	�?
	�=�(8>����

����������������
� �!"��������#$



�

�.
���
	?=8�>H	��=K
��	���
(

@��� �����'G	
����������-	��'
�(E �#� 7��
 %"#"$#�&
����
#(8��>
�
�� �����

(?

� " =@ ;

��H�=>> �.� 
�+���������� ����#������������ �����	/	1�#1� 		 		 		
?=8�>H	 ?���� J D��� ?���� J D��� ?���� J D��� ?���� J D��� ?���� J D��� ?���� J D���

�>�((�@�����=� ���
( ���� �+� ���� �+� ���� �+� ���� �+� ���� �+� ���� �+�
���� �!�� B�3�� � � 9 D3DBF 3DB � � � � � � � � � � �
���H	 
�)����	� D:36D � � � � : 66366F :369 � � � � � �
���H	 
�"����		��A�: ;;3E� � � � 6�39AF 3D; ; 6B3B9F ;3;A � � � � � �
���H	 
�"����		���6 ::39 � � ; A36;F :3�� � � � � � � � �
5
�++�"����		��A AB3AB � � � � � � � � � � � �
5
�++�"����		��6 A:3;D � � ; A36;F �39� � � � � � � � �
5
�++�"����		�� 6E36B � � � � � � � � � � � �
5&��	%�)����	� DA3�� � � � � � � � � � � � �
���H	 
�5&��	%�� A93�� � � � � � � � � � � � �
5
�++�5&��	%�� 693D6 � � � � � � � � � � � �
�����������
��
 6A3:� � � � � E ;�3��F 3B� � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � � � � �

�=��>( � �F 8�3�� :9 ��F 8:936 9 ��F 8:3; � �F 8�3�� � �F 8�3�� � �F 8�3��

���	�6��+�6
����
	��6�6A�6�9�A(AE��) ��
���
7	EH	�?
	�=�(8>����

����������������
� �!"��������#$



��������������	
��
�
����������
���

�����������������������
���������������  ��������!�"��������#���������$����

%�������&��������������
�

'�	 �	(�!�
(�	�
�
�&�'�'(���)�	)'�
!�(�'�'*+�����+,�-*		�.�-*		/�0�("/��-.-$���'*+'����
,��	�123�1����!�
�������/�0�("���
���'�
��&���
���'���0������'� �*���������(������
����3((�''��
�4�(�+�������������+,�&��5��������	�6��(���'&�
�/�
0������'"���&��'(������(�*��'�7������
�!��7�����8�����8��'
*(�����
�������������+
�'��88��$�'�
!�(�'"�

�
 �	 �
����������
���

�
��
�(9��������
���/�0�("�7���������&���
�4�("��&����!�
���������'9'���
�������-.-��
����'(*''���&�
���"��
�
(��)�'�*�+�����,������-�

-.-�7����(���*(������'���7������'(
������"��3�7������'*���
,����
�7����+���
���
���+�'������&��	������'�
�	�&��	�����'(
������"��0��'��''*����&����7��������
���7�������+��
�:*�
���������6��
��	�;��<+4�(�����6<;<$�
7����+���
���
��� 	�
�'*+����� �� &��=>�3
�,�8�
�'��	��������
'� �=>38�$"� �-.-�7���� '�����		���� &��7������
��
�����	�&��'�
�7��
���
��������(����/��
���
���+,��&�
'/��'���8�
�	����?������>��(�����8?>$"���
��
(��)� �*�
�����
���������������!����������!�.����/

!!0�

�
3�
�(�
�'�
�!��7�7����+��(���*(��������
���������������!�
��������(��(�
�'�7�&���&��'*�,��
��"��0�7����
��(�*��� �� '��
(&� �	� '����
�� '��� ���� 	���
��� ��!�
�������� 
�(�
�� ���+�'�'� ��� �((�
���(�� 7�&� &��
'��(�	�(����'��	�3>���'����
�'"� ��&�'�'��
(&��'�+�'������&���*������	�&��'*�,��
��"� �>��(�	�(���,/�-.-�7����
'��
(&���(&����+�'���������	,���,���������'�*
(�'�
�:*�
����	*
&�
���!�'������"��
�
0��'����(������&��7��	�����!�'�'�7����+��
�:*�
�����(����(�'�����'�!���&�����*��
"�<���7����+������
9�'������
��(����'�	�
���@=60��*�����'���(�������&��'�(����7����+����(����(��-�'�����'"��1�!���&�����(���������&��	�
&�����
�!����'/����
����
�'*+(��
�(�
�7�������+����(�''�
,"���
���'�7����+����!��(�������
�'',��
��'���4�(���
��&���
���'������
�!����'"���
�
>���� '�����'�7����+������,A��� 	�
� '�����-� 	
�����(&�+�
���� ��(����"� ��&�,�7����+������,A���7�&��� 	��������
�
(��'�'���7�&�88���'��������
�:*�
����'�7�&�'���(��-�'�����'�'*+�����	�
���+�
��
,�����,'�'"���&��'����
'������
�'*�'�7����+��(����
�����&��'�����-�
������	��"�B���%"���''�(�����7�&�88���	�(���,��((����(�"�0	�

�'*�'� �(&��!�� &�� 88��� 	�(���,� �((����(�� !��*�'/� -.-� 7���� �
���
�� &�� 6�8)���� ��(*���� &�� 7���� +��
'������'������+,�&��-.-"��&�'��
���'����''*��'�&����������	�
�
�:*�
������'���
���	�
��	�
���(&��
�����
�((�*��	�
�&�'�(*

���,�*�9��7��'�*����"�
�
3�,���(����'�&���������(&��!��&��'�����-�
������((����(��!��*�'�7����+�������	�����'��C(�*'����A���'/����
�((���+���	�
�88���	�(���,���'��'��"�
�
0��'��''*�������
�������
,���!�
��������>���3''�''�������>3$������
�������
,�>���0�!�'���������>0$�7�������
+��
�:*�
���	�
�&�'��
�4�(������
�������(�*�������&��'(���"�

�
�
�
��DEF����D�
��'��
����D��
�(9D06����6��(���'&�
��>(�����	�>�
!�(�'"��(C�



















 
Quality engineering solutions for the community 

 5507 N. Cumberland Avenue, Chicago, Illinois 60656-1471   �   Tel 773.775.4009   �   Fax 773.775.4014   �   www.ciorba.com 

 
 
 
May 11, 2018 

 
 
Mr. Walter Dittrich, P.E. 
Assistant Public Works Director / Village Engineer 
Village of Lincolnshire 
One Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 
 
Subject: Proposal for Engineering Services 
 Buffalo Grove Emergency Water Supply Interconnection 
 
 
Dear Mr. Dittrich: 
 
Per your request, Ciorba Group, Inc. has prepared a letter proposal for Design and Construction 
Engineering Services for the Buffalo Grove Emergency Water Supply Interconnection.  Our 
Scope of Services is outlined in Exhibit B which we understand to include the following: 
 

� Design Engineering:  Meetings, Data Collection and Coordination; Survey; Preparation of 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimates; and Permitting. 

� Construction Engineering:  Meetings and Coordination; Bidding Assistance; Shop Drawing 
Review; and Construction Observation. 

 
The engineering fee for the Design Phase is not to exceed $18,744.35.  The engineering fee for 
the Construction Phase is not to exceed $24,200.96.  Actual time on the project will be invoiced.  
A breakdown of the fee is provided in Exhibit C. 
 
It is assumed that the design phase will be carried out in 2018 and the construction phase in 2019.  
Separate rate sheets have been provided to reflect this.  Fees in this proposal shall remain fixed 
until December 31, 2018 for design and December 31, 2019 for construction.  Should you have 
any questions please contact me at 773-355-2947.  We appreciate the opportunity of submitting 
this proposal to the Village on this important public improvement project. 
 
 



Mr. Walter Dittrich, P.E. 
Village of Lincolnshire 

Page 2 

 

 

Sincerely, 
 
CIORBA GROUP, INC. 

 
Luke A. Mattson 
Municipal Project Manager 
 
 
Enclosures: Exhibit A – General Conditions 
  Exhibit B – Scope of Services 
  Exhibit C – Fee Breakdown 
   

 

  Village of Lincolnshire 

Accepted By: 
 

Name: 
 

Title: 
 

Address: 
 

 
 

Date 
 

 



 
Exhibit A - 1 

Exhibit A 
General Conditions 

 
 
DELAYS – The Engineer will not be liable for delays due to force majeure. 
 
DISPUTE RESOLUTION – any dispute under this contract shall be subject to mediation 
as a condition precedent to litigation. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL – The Engineer assumes no responsibility for the detection or 
removal of any hazardous substances found at the job site. 
 
EXTRA WORK - The engineering fees are based on our doing the work as described in 
the proposal letter. Extra Work includes furnishing any other services not specifically set 
forth in the proposal letter. 
 
The fee for all Extra Work would be computed on the basis of hourly rates of personnel 
actually assigned to the work.  Direct costs would be billed at their actual rate. 
 
No Extra Work would be undertaken by us without prior written authorization from the 
Village of Lincolnshire. 
 
INSURANCE – Ciorba Group, Inc. has, and will maintain in effect throughout the duration 
of this contract, professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000. 
 
LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY – The Client agrees, to the fullest extent possible, to limit 
the liability of the Engineer so that the total aggregate liability of the Engineer shall not 
exceed the Engineer’s fee for services rendered on the project. It is acknowledged that 
this limitation of liability applies to any cause of action, be it contract, tort, or any other 
theory. The Client agrees to bring any claims against the Engineer corporate entity, not 
any individual owners or employees of the Engineer firm. The Client and Engineer both 
agree to waive any claims for consequential damages against each other.  
 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE PROVIDED INFORMATION – The Engineer shall have 
the right to rely on the accuracy of any information provided by the Village of 
Lincolnshire. The Engineer will not be responsible for reviewing this information for 
accuracy unless otherwise stated in the Scope of Services. 
 
PAYMENT OF FEES – All fees are due and payable as specified herein. Fees will be 
billed monthly for services performed in the preceding month, and payment thereof is due 
within 30 days of the invoice date.  
 
PERMITS AND APPROVALS – It is the responsibility of the Village of Lincolnshire to 
obtain all necessary permits and approvals. The Engineer will assist the Village of 
Lincolnshire as mutually agreed in writing as part of the Scope of Services. 
 
SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION - In the event that this project should be suspended 
or abandoned for any reason whatsoever, the Village of Lincolnshire shall be liable for 
payment of all services performed through the date Ciorba receives written notice of such 



 
Exhibit A - 2 

suspension or abandonment; payment to be based on percentage of work complete in the 
case of lump sum fees, or hours of work completed in the case of salary times multiplier 
fees.  In the event the Village of Lincolnshire reactivates the project, Ciorba would not 
resume work without the execution of a new agreement for the work. 
 
DELIVERY OF ELECTRONIC FILES - The Village of Lincolnshire agrees to waive all 
claims against the ENGINEER resulting in any way from any unauthorized changes to or 
reuse of the electronic files for any other project by anyone other than the ENGINEER. 

 
In addition, the Village of Lincolnshire agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to 
indemnify and hold harmless the ENGINEER, its officers, directors, employees and 
subconsultants against all damages, liabilities or costs, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and defense costs, arising from any changes made by anyone other than the 
ENGINEER or from any unauthorized reuse of the electronic files without the prior 
written consent of the ENGINEER. 
 
Under no circumstances shall delivery of electronic files for use by the Village of 
Lincolnshire be deemed a sale by the ENGINEER, and the ENGINEER makes no 
warranties, either express or implied, of merchantability and fitness for any particular 
purpose. In no event shall the ENGINEER be liable for indirect or consequential 
damages as a result of the Village of Lincolnshire’s reuse of the electronic files. 
 
In the event any invoices are past due more than 60 days, Ciorba reserves the right to 
suspend all work and withhold all drawings, prints, specifications, estimates, and the like 
until the account is current. This agreement shall terminate upon the occurrence of the first 
of the following: 

 
A. Completion of and payment for, all of the work included herein. 
 
B. Suspension or abandonment of the project, and payment to us of all fees 

due and payable. 
 
C. Mutual written consent of the parties hereto. 



Exhibit B – Scope of Services 
 

Village of Lincolnshire 
Buffalo Grove Emergency Interconnection – Design Phase 

 
1. Meetings, Data Collection and Coordination – Attend an initial kick off meeting with the 
Village to review the proposed schedule, engineering parameters and deliverables.  Available 
data will be collected at this meeting.  Requested data includes sample Village construction plans 
& specifications, material cut sheets, Lincolnshire GIS, atlas utility sheets, available survey data 
of the project area, and other pertinent information.  A second meeting will be held after the 75% 
submittal to review Village of Lincolnshire comments.  It is assumed that the Village of Buffalo 
Grove will also be invited to this meeting to offer comments on the design. 

 
2. Data Collection and Survey - Ciorba will perform a full topographic survey of the 
project site. Survey tasks will include setting horizontal and vertical control; topographic 
survey of the site and adjacent roadway and sidewalks; utility information (including water, 
sewer, and drainage components); important other facilities required for design information 
(this may include electrical transformers and communication pedestals among other items); 
any other items that must be considered for design, including vegetation, signs, buildings, 
light poles, etc. in the vicinity of the site. 

 
3. Plans Specifications and Estimates – Design documents will be submitted at the Pre-
Final and Final design levels.  Design elements for the project under our scope are anticipated 
to include select removal of existing pavements, interconnection valve vault including valves 
and metering, water main connections to the Village of Lincolnshire and the Village of Buffalo 
Grove, and restoration.  Quantities will be prepared for all pay items included in the plans.  
Construction cost estimates will be prepared using historical unit prices for similar work.  
Specifications will be in the Village’s preferred format.   

 
 Plans will include the following sheets: 

 
Civil 
� Cover Sheet with index and key map 
� Legend and General Notes 
� Existing Condition and Demolition Plan 
� Proposed Interconnection Plan  
� Interconnection Vault Detail 
� Miscellaneous Details 
 

4. Construction Cost Estimates – Prepare quantity schedules and cost estimates for the 
proposed improvements for the Pre-Final and Final submittals. 

 
5. Permitting - Ciorba will assemble and submit the required permit applications. Permits 
are expected to be required from the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency, and the 
Illinois Department of Transportation.    
 
6. Quality Assurance / Quality Control – The project will be completed in accordance 
with the Ciorba QA/QC plan.  The QA/QC plan is available upon request. 

 



7. Deliverables – Deliverables will be 5 hard copy sets of 11” x 17”plans, specifications and 
cost estimates and a digital CD copy.   

 
 

Construction Phase 
 

 
1. Bidding Assistance  
Ciorba will assist the Village with advertising the project for bidding, responding to bidders’ written 
questions and issuing an addendum (if necessary). Ciorba will review and tabulate the bids and 
make a recommendation to the Village for the award of the project. 

 
2. Preconstruction Meeting 
The Resident Engineer will create a list of potential attendees for Village review.  This list will 
include Village Engineering staff; Village Public Works personnel; Village of Buffalo Grove; private 
utility representatives; and the Contractor and his subcontractors.  After the list is finalized, the 
Resident Engineer will notify participants of the time and place for the meeting.  Topics that may 
be discussed at this meeting will include the progress schedule, construction staging, material 
and equipment storage sites, demolition techniques, listing of materials and equipment submittals, 
general correspondence procedures, traffic control, subcontractor roles, and submittal for 
payment.  Shop drawing review procedures will also be discussed and in particular the Contractor 
will be advised that material and equipment are not to be installed prior to completion of the shop 
drawing review process.  The Resident Engineer’s and the Contractor’s 24 hour emergency 
numbers will also be made available to participants.  Catalog cuts and shop drawings may be 
distributed at the meeting by the Contractor for review by Ciorba.  The Resident Engineer will 
prepare meeting minutes and distribute them to all participants. 

 
3. Shop Drawing Review 
Ciorba will provide review services for information and data submitted by the Contractor for 
materials and designs to be included in the construction.  Ciorba will log, stamp, and track all 
submittals received, and identify outstanding submittals.  All submittals will be reviewed for 
compliance with the intent of the Contract documents.  Submittal mark-ups and review letters will 
be generated for each submittal in a timely manner, and mailed to the contractor with copies to 
the Village.  Ciorba will notify the Village of any substitutions, deficiencies, or changes in the 
submitted materials when compared to the contract documents.  An assessment of any deviations 
will made by Ciorba and presented to the Village with a request for acceptance or denial.  Ciorba 
will advise the Village of any disapprovals in submittals due to non-conformance with the intent of 
the specifications.   

 
4. Construction Observation Services 
Ciorba Group will have a full-time Resident Engineer for the project.  Ciorba has assumed a 3 
week construction period for this work.   
 
Construction will be monitored for conformance with the contract documents and Village 
requirements. If there are any unforeseen conditions or issues that develop, Ciorba’s design 



engineers will be available to provide options to the Village to mitigate project delays.  When on-
site, Daily Reports will be completed on Ciorba standard forms unless a Village format is 
preferred.  Ciorba will also maintain a diary, when on site, describing the work accomplished and 
will document all work with photographs.  Monthly progress reports will be prepared and provided 
to the Contractor and the Village. Monthly pay estimates will be prepared and submitted to the 
Village for review and processing.  Ciorba will prepare any necessary change orders for Village 
review and approval.   
 
Other duties for the Resident Engineer will be to continue public stakeholder involvement by 
addressing any concerns or issues of local residents, business owners or other stakeholders.  At 
minimum, this will consist of answering phone calls, receiving and sending e-mails, and contacting 
residents to ensure resolution.  Issues will be resolved in a timely manner as determined by the 
Village and situational needs.   
 
As an on-site extension of the Village, Ciorba will maintain close communication with the Village’s 
designated representative.  This will be accomplished by as-needed daily communication and 
periodic progress meetings chaired by Ciorba.  Invitees to the weekly meeting will include the 
Village’s designated representative, other Village staff such as Public Works personnel, the 
Contractor and his subcontractors and utility representatives. 
 

5. Construction Project Close-Out 
Ciorba will maintain a punch list of construction items that require correction before final 
acceptance of the project and provide it to the Contractor. The site will be inspected for completion 
of punch list items and the Contractor will be notified of any incomplete items. After the punch list 
is completed, site inspections will be conducted by Ciorba with the Village and the Contractor.  
Any concerns identified at the walk through will be resolved prior to acceptance of the 
improvement.  The closeout process continues with the preparation of final documentation papers 
for project acceptance by the Village. This includes all material certifications and testing results, 
final quantity measurements, balancing change orders and final pay estimates.  As construction 
proceeds, any modifications to the plans will be field measured and documented for inclusion in 
the final construction record drawings.  The two sets of final construction record drawings of a 
size specified by the Village will be provided and one CD with all updated CAD files. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



Exhibit C – Fee Breakdown 
Village of Lincolnshire 

Buffalo Grove Emergency Interconnection – Engineering Services 
 
 

Project Component FEE 

Design Phase $18,744.35 

Construction Phase (Estimated) $24,200.96 

TOTAL $42,945.31 
 
 
 



1.

2.

3.

WORK BREAKDOWN STRUCTURE
Village of Lincolnshire

Buffalo Grove Em Intercon - Design

Water Resources

Meetings, Data Collection & Coordination

Topographic Survey

DESIGN



WORK BREAKDOWN STRUCTURE
Village of Lincolnshire

Buffalo Grove Em Intercon - Design

4.

6.

7.

QC/QA

Project Management & Administration

Engineering Studies/Plans

DESIGN



DESIGN



CONSTRUCTION



CONSTRUCTION



Meetings, Data Collection & Coordination
Construction Engineering / Phase III Assis.
Project Management & Administration

CONSTRUCTION







 
 

LETTER OF INTENT 
 
 

Staff from the Village of Lincolnshire and Village of Buffalo Grove have recently been 
coordinating on the feasibility of an emergency connection of each respective Village’s water 
supply systems for use as a backup in the event of an emergency.  This Letter of Intent has 
been developed as a framework to be utilized in the development of an Intergovernmental 
Agreement between the two communities.  Each community acknowledges the following: 
 

1. There is a desire to proceed with the design and future construction of a water 
infrastructure interconnection between Buffalo Grove and Lincolnshire at a location west 
of Stevenson High School, along Illinois Route 22. 
 

2. An engineering analysis of both communities’ hydraulic water models was found to be 
mutually beneficial for both systems to proceed with an emergency interconnection.  Both 
Buffalo Grove and Lincolnshire staff have reviewed and evaluated the engineering 
recommendation and agree to the benefits of both communities.   
 

3. All associated construction costs for the proposed interconnection shall be assumed by 
the Village of Lincolnshire.  The Village of Lincolnshire shall own and be solely 
responsible for maintenance, repair, and or replacement of materials necessary for the 
interconnection.  This proposed project is planned only for emergency usage of both 
communities and is not intended for use as a continued water supply.   
 

4. The connection would be constructed to serve the Village of Lincolnshire with the ability 
to reverse the connection to serve Buffalo Grove if necessary. 
 

5. The fee for water utilized during an emergency by each community would be included in 
the IGA. 
 

6. Buffalo Grove shall review and approve the design for the interconnection prior to the 
project being put out for bid. 
 

 
Village of Lincolnshire:    Village of Buffalo Grove: 
 
 
_________________________   _________________________ 
Village Official      Village Official 
 
_________________________   _________________________ 
Date       Date 

 


	1.0 Agenda
	2.1 08-06-2018 Minutes
	3.11_2018_08_27_COW_Westgate_Fence_PreEval
	3.12_2018_8_27_COW_Culvers
	3.21_Investment_Services
	3.22_Dissolution_Traffic Signal_SSA_Fund_Ord
	3.23_Utility_Tax_Audit_Services
	3.31_2018_08_27_COW_IL_22_Emergency_Access
	3.32_2018_08_27_COW_Alternative_Water_Source_Engineering_Design
	3.33_2018_08_27_COW_Alternative_Water_Source

	Return to Agenda: 


